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STATEMENT OF CH}l .,GES I 1 EQUITY 
for the year ended 3 1 December 2020 
(in UAH thousandl 

Share 
premium 

and other Other Revaluati 
Issued additio nal capital on 
capital capital reserve reserve 

As at Decembe r 31, 2018 205 000 41 449 46 

Distribution of profit of 
22 778 1 110 

previous years 

Net profit for the year 

Other comprehensive 
83 

income 

Total comprehensive 
83 

income 

As at December 31, 2019 227 778 41 1 559 129 

Operations with 
1960 

shareholders 
Distribution of profit of 426 

revious ears 
Net profit for the year 

Other comprehensive 
324 

income 

Total comprehensive 324 
income 

As at December 31, 2020 227 778 2 001 1985 453 

Approved for issue by the manageme nt of JSC "AL TBANK" and signed on its behalf: 

Chief Accountant 

I. lzmailova 

02 April 2021 

The notes on pages 7-97 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Retained Total 
earnings equity 

27 664 233 200 

(23 888) 

8 518 8 518 

83 

8 518 8 601 

12 294 241801 

1960 

(426) 

3 711 3 711 

324 

3 711 4 035 

15 579 247 796 

5 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
1. Background information on activities in 2020  
JOINT STOCK COMPANY “ALTBANK” (hereinafter - the “Bank”) is located at 5 Vuzovskaya Street, 03037, Kyiv, 
Ukraine. 

The Bank is governed by the Laws of Ukraine “On banks and banking activity”, “On joint-stock companies”, “On 
securities and stock market”, “On accounting and financial reports in Ukraine”, Civil code of Ukraine, Economic 
code of Ukraine, other current legislation of Ukraine, as well as normative legal acts of the National Bank of 
Ukraine and other executive authorities. 

Shareholders of the Bank. 

In the second quarter of 2020, there were changes in the ownership structure of the Bank, namely, Shuptar О. 
sold all his shares to Zhukotsky A. As of the end of the day on December 31, 2020, total direct significant share of 
individuals in the Bank’s share capital was divided as follows:  

 December 31, 
2020 

December 31, 
2019 

Mr. S. Artyukh  24,59 % 24,59 % 

Mr. A. Degoda 24,59 % 24,59 % 

Mr. L. Stolnikov 24,59 % 24,59 % 

Mr. I. Volokh 20,07 % 20,07 % 

Mr. A. Zhukotskyi  6,16 % - 

Mr. O. Shuptar - 6,16 % 

Total 100,00% 100,00% 

As of December 31, 2020, the share of management in the Bank's shares is absent. As at December 31, 2019 
management`s share in the Bank’s shares was 20,07% and belonged to the Chairman of the Management Board  
Mr. I. Volokh, who resigned as Chairman of the Management Board on December 21, 2020. 

Organizational structure of the Bank. As at 31 December 2020 the Bank has 1 department (as at 
31 December 2019 – 1 department). As at 31 December 2020 total number of the Bank`s employees was 80 
persons (as at 31 December 2019 – 75 persons). 

Licenses and permissions of the Bank. The Bank operates on the basis of the Bank License №106, issued by 
the National Bank of Ukraine on 19 November 2018, which authorizes to conduct banking services. 

According to the current legislation and on the basis of the relevant licenses of the National Securities and Stock 
Market Commission the Bank can perform depositary activities of the depositary institution, the activity of 
storing assets of joint investment institutions and professional activity in the stock market: brokerage and dealer 
activity. 

The Bank's primary business is providing banking services to legal entities and individuals. 

The Bank is a member of the Deposit Guarantee Fund. 
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2. Operating environment 
During 2020, the rapid spread of the coronavirus pandemic and the restrictions imposed to combat it 
determined the situation on world commodity and financial markets. 

The rapid development of events at the beginning of the year, caused by the spread of the coronavirus, led to the 
formation of liquidity gaps in some banks and increased demand for interbank credit resources. In order to 
preserve financial stability, the National Bank of Ukraine introduced long-term refinancing of banks, supported 
banks with cash foreign currency, postponed the formation of capital buffers, offered banks to introduce a 
special grace period for servicing loans during quarantine for individuals and businesses, etc.  

The crisis in the real sector has had a negative impact on production, capital investment and employment. This 
has worsened the financial situation of many businesses and households. The result was the first problems with 
loan servicing and declining demand for the services of financial institutions. 

The abolition of strict quarantine restrictions from the end of May and the introduction of adaptive quarantine 
led to a gradual resumption of economic activity and improvement of the labor market. 

According to preliminary estimates by Fitch ratings, the fall in GDP in 2020 will be about -5.8%. The contraction 
of the economy at the end of the year is primarily the result of a difficult business for the second quarter, in 
which the strictest quarantine restrictions were applied. At the same time, business activity has picked up 
markedly as restrictions have gradually eased. The recovery of consumer and investment demand in the second 
half partially offset the negative trends of the first half. 

Consumer inflation in 2020 was within the target range and amounted to 5% compared to 4.1% in 2019. During 
2020, the National Bank of Ukraine reduced the discount rate from 13.5% to 6%. In the current situation, the 
discount rate of 6% is aimed at ensuring a balance between achieving moderate inflation and stimulating the 
economy. Decisions on the key rate determined the value of market resources. Thus, the cost of government 
borrowings in the national currency and interest rates on hryvnia deposits are already at record lows. 
Depreciation of credit resources also continues. 

Banks entered a period of pandemic without significant imbalances, sufficiently capitalized and highly liquid, in 
2020 the financial sector successfully underwent a coronary crisis and properly performed its functions, 
supporting business and helping to restore economic growth by providing credit resources. 

The Ukrainian banking sector remains profitable due to the stability of operating profits and the absence of 
significant credit losses. Net commission income only temporarily declined at the peak of the crisis, but 
recovered in the following months. Net interest income grew due to a high interest rate spread, with interest 
rates on assets and liabilities declining in parallel throughout the year. In the medium term, a narrowing of the 
spread is inevitable. While maintaining macroeconomic stability, lending rates will continue to decline. At the 
same time, the space for lowering deposit rates, which are currently the lowest in the history of the Ukrainian 
banking sector, is very limited. Therefore, lowering the margin on credit operations is a key risk for banks' 
profitability in the coming years. 

According to the results of 2020, Ukraine's international reserves increased by 15% and on January 1, 2021 
reached USD 29.133 billion (equivalent). 

At present, economic activity is constrained by the persistence of certain restrictions in the conditions of 
adaptive quarantine, as well as increasing the risks of further increase in the incidence of coronavirus. A return 
to tougher quarantine measures both in Ukraine and around the world could lead to a more significant and 
lasting cooling of the global and Ukrainian economies. 

Accordingly, there will be a need to strengthen fiscal and monetary incentives to support the economy and the 
population. The main external risks today are also related to the success of the global pandemic.  

Other risks also remain relevant: the negative impact of court decisions on macro-financial stability; escalation of 
the military conflict in the east of the country, increasing volatility in world food prices given global climate 
change and the risk of increasing protectionism in the world. 

Compliance with the terms of the new stand-by cooperation program with the International Monetary Fund, in 
particular on the implementation of consistent fiscal and monetary policy, will provide the macroeconomic 
stability necessary for a confident and rapid economic recovery. The support of the International Monetary Fund 
is important for financing budget expenditures to overcome the effects of the pandemic, maintain access to 
international capital markets and the interest of international investors in Ukrainian assets. 
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The potential impact of COVID-19 on the Bank remains uncertain, although the effect of these events may 
adversely affect the Bank's operations and financial performance, it is currently not possible to estimate it 
reliably. The financial results of the Bank mainly depend on the credit quality of customers and counterparties, 
as well as on the volatility of financial markets in general. As the situation develops rapidly, COVID-19 can 
significantly affect the activities of many companies in various sectors of the economy, including, but not limited 
to, disruption of operations as a result of suspension or closure, bankruptcy of small and medium-sized 
companies, supply chain disruption, quarantine or downsizing. staff, declining demand and difficulties in 
obtaining funding. The Bank closely monitors the development of the situation on the world and Ukrainian 
markets in order to minimize the negative consequences. The Bank monitors liquidity on a daily basis through 
operational and strategic management. 
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3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

3.1 New and amended standards and interpretations 
The Bank applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The Bank has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or 
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 

Amendments to IFRS 3 - «Definition of a Business» 

The amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations clarifies that to be considered a business, an integrated set of 
activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that, together, significantly 
contribute to the ability to create output. Furthermore, it clarifies that a business can exist without including all 
of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Bank, but may impact future periods should the Bank enter into any business combinations. 

Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39 - «Interest Rate Benchmark Reform» 

The amendments to IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement provide a number 
of reliefs, which apply to all hedging relationships that are directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. A 
hedging relationship is affected if the reform gives rise to uncertainty about the timing and/or amount of 
benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument. These amendments have no impact 
on the financial statements of the Bank as it does not have any interest rate hedge relationships.  

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - «Definition of Material» 

The amendments provide a new definition of material that states, “information is material if omitting, misstating 
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a 
specific reporting entity.” 

The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, either 
individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial statements. A misstatement 
of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. 
These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of, nor is there expected to be any future impact to 
the Bank. 

«Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting», issued March 29, 2018. 

The Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override the concepts 
or requirements in any standard. The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist the IASB in developing 
standards, to help preparers develop consistent accounting policies where there is no applicable standard in 
place and to assist all parties to understand and interpret the standards. This will affect those entities which 
developed their accounting policies based on the Conceptual Framework.  

The revised Conceptual Framework includes some new concepts, updated definitions and recognition criteria for 
assets and liabilities and clarifies some important concepts. These amendments had no impact on the financial 
statements of the Bank. 

Amendments to IFRS 16 - «Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions» 

On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases The 
amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent 
concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may 
elect not to assess whether a COVID-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that 
makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the COVID-19 related rent 
concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease 
modification.  

The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application is 
permitted. 

During the 12 months of 2020, the Bank was granted concessions in rent payments that arose as a result of an 
outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic. In accordance with the amendments to IFRS 16 «Covid-19-Related Rent 
Concessions», approved by the International Accounting Standards Board in May 2020, the Bank has determined 
that the change in lease payments has led to a modification of the lease. 
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As of December 31, 2020, changes in the value of right-of-use assets amounted to UAH 613 thousand (Note 12), 
the amount of accrued interest on liabilities for 2020 decreased by UAH 19 thousand, depreciation of use assets 
decreased by UAH 6 thousand. 
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies 
Basis of preparation.  

These financial statement have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). 

Foreign currency 

These financial statements are presented in Ukrainian hryvnias, which is the currency of the main economic 
environment the Bank operates in (functional currency). Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies, other than the functional currency of the Bank (in foreign currencies), are translated into Ukrainian 
hryvnia at the respective official exchange rates that are effective at the reporting date. 

The balance sheet assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the Statement of 
financial position at the official exchange rate ruling at the date they occur and revalued at the exchange rate at 
the reporting date. Income and expenses in foreign currency are recognized at the official exchange rate ruling at 
the date they occur, rather than at the settlement date, and if the cash method is applied, at the rate of 
settlement. All gains and losses arising from this recalculation are recognized in the net gain/(loss) from foreign 
currency transactions. 

Exchange rate. The following official exchange rates were used to prepare these financial statements. 

Currency December 31, 2020  December 31, 2019  

U.S. dollar (USD) 28,2746 23,686 

Euro (EUR) 34,7396 26,422 

Net interest income 

Interest income and interest expenses by all types of financial instruments, except types, that is classified as held 
for sale and types, that is evaluated or intended for accounting at FVTPL, and displayed in the part of Net interest 
income as Interest income and Interest expenses in profit or loss, using interest effective rate method. The 
financial instrument`s interests at FVTPL, includes to the part of fair value for the period. 

The effective interest rate (hereinafter - EIR) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Future cash flows are estimated considering all contractual 
terms. 

The EIR includes all commissions and gatherings payed or received between the parties of agreement, that are 
additional and directly related to concrete credit agreement, transaction expenses and all other premiums and 
discounts. For financial assets at FVTPL, the operation expenses are determined in profit or loss at initial 
recognition. 

Interest income / interest expense are calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of the non-
impaired financial assets (that is, at the amortized cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any expected 
credit losses) or to the amortized cost of financial liabilities. For impaired financial assets, interest income is 
calculated by applying the EIR to the net amortized cost of the loan-loss financial assets (that is, the total 
carrying amount, less provision for expected loan losses (hereinafter referred to as ECL)). For financial assets 
acquired or purchased of the credit-impaired (POCI), the EIR reflects the ECL in determining the future cash 
flows expected to be received from the financial asset. 

Net commission  income 

Commission income and expenses include commissions, except those that form an integral part of the EIR (see 
above). The commissions, included in this part of the Bank's profit and loss account include, inter alia, loan 
servicing fees, unused commission fees associated with loans, where it is unlikely that such a commitment will 
result in specific lending. 

Commission expenses related to services are recorded as providing services. 
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Determination of fair value 

In order to show how fair values have been derived, financial instruments are classified based on a hierarchy of 
valuation techniques, as summarized below: 

- Level 1 financial instruments − Those where the inputs used in the valuation are unadjusted quoted 
prices from active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Bank has access to at the 
measurement date. The Bank considers markets as active only if there are sufficient trading activities 
with regards to the volume and liquidity of the identical assets or liabilities and when there are binding 
and exercisable price quotes available on the balance sheet date. 

- Level 2 financial instruments − Those where the inputs that are used for valuation and are significant, 
are derived from directly or indirectly observable market data available over the entire period of the 
instrument’s life. Such inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, 
quoted prices for identical instruments in inactive markets and observable inputs other than quoted 
prices such as interest rates and yield curves, implied volatilities, and credit spreads. In addition, 
adjustments may be required for the condition or location of the asset or the extent to which it relates to 
items that are comparable to the valued instrument. However, if such adjustments are based on 
unobservable inputs which are significant to the entire measurement, the Bank will classify the 
instruments as Level 3. 

- Level 3 financial instruments − Those that include one or more unobservable input that is significant to 
the measurement as whole. 

The Bank periodically reviews its valuation techniques including the adopted methodologies and model 
calibrations. However, the base models may not fully capture all factors relevant to the valuation of the Bank’s 
financial instruments such as credit risk (CVA), own credit (DVA) and/or funding costs (FVA). Therefore, the 
Bank applies various techniques to estimate the credit risk associated with its financial instruments measured at 
fair value, which include a portfolio-based approach that estimates the expected net exposure per counterparty 
over the full lifetime of the individual assets, in order to reflect the credit risk of the individual counterparties for 
non-collateralized financial instruments. The Bank estimates the value of its own credit from market observable 
data, such as secondary prices for its traded debt and the credit spread on credit default swaps and traded debts 
on itself.  

The Bank evaluates the levelling at each reporting period on an instrument-by-instrument basis and reclassifies 
instruments when necessary, based on the facts at the end of the reporting period. 
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Financial instruments – initial recognition 

Date of recognition 

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers and balances due to 
customers, are initially recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date on which the Bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades, i.e., purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in 
the market place. Loans and advances to customers are recognized when funds are transferred to the customers’ 
accounts. The Bank recognizes balances due to customers when funds are transferred to the Bank. 

Initial measurement of financial instruments 

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the 
business model for managing the instruments, as described in “Business model assessment” and “The SPPI test”. 
Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value, except in the case of financial assets and financial 
liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount. Trade receivables 
are measured at the transaction price. When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs 
from the transaction price, the Bank accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below. 

Day 1 profit or loss 

When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is  based 
on a valuation technique using only inputs observable in market transactions, the Bank recognizes the difference 
between the transaction price and fair value in net trading income. In those cases where fair value is based on 
models for which some of the inputs are not observable, the difference between the transaction price and the fair 
value is deferred and is only recognized in profit or loss when the inputs become observable, or when the 
instrument is derecognized. 

Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities 

The Bank classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the asset’s 
contractual terms, measured at either:  

− amortized cost, as explained in Note “Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers, Financial 
investments at amortized cost”; 

− fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), as explained in Notes “Debt instruments at 
FVOCI” and “Equity instruments at FVOCI”; and 

− fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

The Bank classifies and measures its derivative and trading portfolio at FVPL, as explained in Notes “Derivatives 
recorded at fair value through profit or loss” and “Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading”. The 
Bank may designate financial instruments at FVPL, if so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement 
or recognition inconsistencies, as explained in Note “Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss”. 
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Financial assets and liabilities 

Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers, Financial investments at amortized cost 

The Bank measures Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers and other financial investments at 
amortized cost only if both of the following conditions are met: 

− the financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; 

− The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

The details of these conditions are outlined below. 

• Business model assessment 

The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets 
to achieve its business objective. 

The Bank's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of 
aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as: 

− how the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are 
evaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel; 

− the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 
business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed; and 

− the expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Bank’s assessment. 

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress 
case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a way that is different from the 
Bank's original expectations, the Bank does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in 
that business model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased 
financial assets going forward. 

• The Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI test) 

As a second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of the financial asset to 
identify whether they meet the SPPI test. 

“Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and 
may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortization 
of the premium/discount). 

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the 
time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Bank applies judgement and considers 
relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the 
interest rate is set. 

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than the minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the 
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial 
asset is required to be measured at FVPL. 

Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss 

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics: 

− its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, 
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other 
variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract 
(i.e., the 'underlying'); 

− it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required 
for other types of contracts expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors; 

− it is settled at a future date. 
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The Bank enters into derivative interest rate swaps, futures, credit default swaps, cross-currency swaps, forward 
foreign exchange contracts and options on interest rates, foreign currencies and equities. Derivatives are 
recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value 
is negative. Fully collateralized derivatives that are settled net in cash on a regular basis are only recognized to 
the extent of the overnight outstanding balance. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in net 
trading income unless hedge accounting is applied.  

During 2020 and 2019, the Bank carried out operations with derivative financial instruments, income and 
expenses from operations with these instruments are presented in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as Net income from operations with derivatives.  

Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading 

The Bank classifies financial assets or financial liabilities as held for trading when they have been purchased or 
issued primarily for short-term profit-making through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of financial 
instruments that are managed together, for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit 
taking. Held-for-trading assets and liabilities are recorded and measured in the statement of financial position at 
fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in “Net trading income”.  

Included in this classification are debt securities, equities, short positions and customer loans that have been 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 

During 2020, the Bank classified financial assets as held for trading. The classification of financial liabilities as 
held for sale was not carried out in 2020. During 2019, the Bank did not classify financial assets or financial 
liabilities as held for trading. 

Debt instruments at FVOCI 

The Bank classifies debt instruments at FVOCI when both of the following conditions are met: 

− the instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; 

− the contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test. 

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes in 
fair value recognized in OCI. Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit  or 
loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost. The ECL calculation for Debt 
instruments at FVOCI is explained in “Debt instruments at FVOCI”. Where the Bank holds more than  one 
investment in the same security, they are deemed to be disposed of on a first–in first–out basis. On 
derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or loss. 

Equity instruments at FVOCI 

Upon initial recognition, the Bank occasionally elects to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments  as 
equity instruments at FVOCI when they meet the definition of definition of Equity under IAS 32 “Financial 
Instruments: Presentation” and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. 

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit. Dividends are recognized in profit  or 
loss as other operating income when the right of the payment has been established, except when the Bank 
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains are 
recorded in OCI. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment. 

Debt issued and other borrowed funds 

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowed funds are subsequently measured at amortized cost. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on issued funds, and costs that  are 
an integral part of the EIR. A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an equity 
component is separated at the issue date. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets and financial liabilities in this category are those that are not held for trading and have been 
either designated by management upon initial recognition or are mandatorily required to be measured at fair 
value under IFRS 9. Management only designates an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when one of the 
following criteria are met. Such designation is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis: 
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− the designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise 
arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis; 

or 

− the liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities, which are managed and their performance 
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment 
strategy; 

or 

− the liabilities contain one or more embedded derivatives, unless they do not significantly modify the 
cash flows that would otherwise be required by the contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis when 
a similar instrument is first considered that separation of the embedded derivative(s) is prohibited. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. 
Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the exception of movements in fair value of liabilities 
designated at FVPL due to changes in the Bank’s own credit risk. Such changes in fair value are recorded in  the 
“Own credit reserve” through OCI and do not get recycled to the profit or loss. Interest earned or incurred on 
instruments designated at FVPL is accrued in interest income or interest expense, respectively, using the EIR, 
taking into account any discount/ premium and qualifying transaction costs being an integral part of instrument. 
Interest earned on assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVPL is recorded using the contractual 
interest rate, as explained in “Interest and similar income/expense”. Dividend income from equity instruments 
measured at FVPL is recorded in profit or loss as other operating income when the right to the payment has been 
established. 

During 2020 and 2019, the Bank had no Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss. 

Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments 

The Bank issues financial guarantees and loan commitments. 

Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements (within “Provisions”) at fair value, being 
the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at 
the higher of the amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization recognized in the income statement, 
and an ECL allowance as set out in Note 34. 

The premium received is recognized in the income statement in “Net commission income” on a straight line basis 
over the life of the guarantee. 

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the 
commitment, the Bank is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to financial 
guarantee contracts, these contracts are in the scope of the ECL requirements if the Bank has no legal right to 
withdraw such an obligation. 

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where 
the loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded on in the statement of financial position. The 
nominal values of these instruments together with the corresponding ECL are disclosed in Note 34. 

The Bank occasionally issues loan commitments at below market interest rates. Such commitments are 
subsequently measured at the higher of the amount of the ECL allowance (see “Overview of the ECL principles” 
and Note 34) and the amount initially recognized less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income 
recognized. 
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Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions 

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have  been 
renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognized as  a 
derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. The newly 
recognized loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed to be 
POCI. 

When assessing whether or not to derecognize a loan to a customer, amongst others, the Bank considers  the 
following factors: 

− change in currency of the loan; 

− introduction of an equity feature; 

− change in counterparty; 

− if the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI criterion. 

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different the modification does not result 
in derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the Bank records a 
modification gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. 

Derecognition other than for substantial modification 

• Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Bank also 
derecognizes the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for 
derecognition. 

The Bank has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either: 

− the Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset; 

or 

− it retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party under a “pass–through’ arrangement. 

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Bank retains the contractual rights to receive the cash 
flows of a financial asset (the 'original asset'), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash  flows to 
one or more entities (the 'eventual recipients'), when all of the following three conditions are met: 

− the Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent 
amounts from the original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the 
amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates; 

− the Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients; 

− the Bank has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material 
delay. In addition, the Bank is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash or 
cash equivalents, including interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the date 
of required remittance to the eventual recipients. 

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either: 

− the Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; 

or 

− the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset. 

The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset 
in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing 
additional restrictions on the transfer. 
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When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained 
control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognized only to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement, 
in which case, the Bank also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability 
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of 
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Bank could be required 
to pay. 

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the transferred asset,  the 
continuing involvement is measured at the value the Bank would be required to pay upon repurchase. In  the 
case of a written put option on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing 
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 

• Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying 
value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss. 



 

JOINT STOCK COMPANY “ALTBANK” 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 2020    

20 

Impairment of financial assets  

Overview of the ECL principles 

The Bank records an allowance for expected credit loss for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at 
FVPL, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to as 
“financial instruments’. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS 9. 

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected 
credit losses or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which 
case, the allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit losses (12mECL) as outlined in Note 4, see “The 
calculation of ECL”). The Bank’s policies for determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk are 
set out in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Significant increase in credit risk”). 

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECL that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

Both LTECL and 12mECL are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on  the 
nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments. The Bank’s policy for grouping financial assets 
measured on a collective basis is explained in Note 34 ( see “Credit risk. Grouping financial assets measured on a 
collective basis”). 

The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether  a 
financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change 
in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. This is further explained in 
Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Significant increase in credit risk”). 

Based on the above process, the Bank groups its loans as described below: 

− Stage 1: When loans are first recognized, the Bank recognizes an allowance based on 12mECL. 
Stage 1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified 
from Stage 2. 

− Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank 
records an allowance for the LTECL. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has 
improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3. 

− Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired (as outlined in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Definition of 
default, impaired and cure”.) The Bank records an allowance for the LTECL. 

− POCI:  Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are 
credit impaired on initial recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and 
interest income is subsequently recognized based on a credit-adjusted EIR. The ECL allowance is only 
recognized or released to the extent that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses. 

For financial assets for which the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire 
outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. This  is 
considered a (partial) derecognition of the financial asset. 

The calculation of ECL 

The Bank calculates ECL based on a four probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls, 
discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due 
to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. 

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows: 

− The 
Probability of 
Default (PD) 

The Probability of Default (PD) is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given 
time horizon. A default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if 
the facility has not been previously derecognized and is still in the portfolio. The 
concept of PD is further explained in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. The Bank’s internal 
rating and PD estimation process”). 

− The Exposure 
at Default 
(EAD) 

The Exposure at Default (EAD) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, 
taking into account expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, 
including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or 
otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from 
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missed payments. The EAD is further explained in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Exposure 
at default”). 

− The Loss Given 
Default (LGD) 

The Loss Given Default (LGD) is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a 
default occurs at a given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from the 
realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD. The 
LGD is further explained in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Loss given default”). 

When estimating the ECL, the Bank considers four scenarios (a base case, an upside, a mild downside (“downside 
1’) and a more extreme downside (“downside 2’)). Each of these is associated with different PDs, EADs and LGDs, 
as set out in Note 4 ( see “Credit cards and other revolving facilities”). When relevant, the assessment of multiple 
scenarios also incorporates how defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including the probability that the 
loans will  cure and the value of collateral or the amount that might be received for selling the asset. 

With the exception of credit cards and other revolving facilities, for which the treatment is separately set out in 
Note 4, see “Credit cards and other revolving facilities”, the maximum period for which the credit losses are 
determined is the contractual life of a financial instrument unless the Bank has the legal right to call it earlier. 

Impairment losses and releases are accounted for and disclosed separately from modification losses or gains that 
are accounted for as an adjustment of the financial asset’s gross carrying value. 

Provisions for ECL for undrawn loan commitments are assessed as set out in Note 34. The calculation of ECL 
(including the ECL related to the undrawn element) of revolving facilities such as credit cards is explained in 
Note 4, see “Credit cards and other revolving facilities”. 

The mechanics of the ECL method are summarized below: 

Stage 1: The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECL that represent the ECL that result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the 
reporting date. The Bank calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a 
default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting date. These expected 12-month 
default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and 
discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. This calculation is made for each of the 
four scenarios, as explained above. 

Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records 
an allowance for the LTECL. The mechanics are similar to those explained above, including the 
use of multiple scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. 
The expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. 

Stage 3: For loans considered credit-impaired (as defined in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Definition of 
default and cure”), the Bank recognizes the lifetime expected credit losses for these loans. The 
method is similar  to that for Stage 2 assets, with the PD set at 100%. 

POCI POCI assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. The Bank only 
recognizes the cumulative changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition, based on a 
probability-weighting of the four scenarios, discounted by the credit-adjusted EIR. 

Loan 
commitments  

When estimating LTECL for undrawn loan commitments, the Bank estimates  the expected 
portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn down over its expected life. The ECL is then 
based on the present value of the expected shortfalls  in cash flows if the loan is drawn down, 
based on a probability-weighting of the four scenarios. The expected cash shortfalls are 
discounted at an approximation to the expected EIR on the loan. 

For credit cards and revolving facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment, 
ECL is calculated and presented together with the loan. For loan commitments and letters of 
credit, the ECL is recognized within «Contingencies». 

Financial 
guarantee 
contracts 

The Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially 
recognized less cumulative amortization recognized in the income statement, and the ECL 
provision. For this purpose, the Bank estimates ECL based on the present value of the expected 
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss  that it incurs. The shortfalls are discounted 
by the risk-adjusted interest rate relevant to the exposure. The calculation is made using a 
probability-weighting of the four scenarios. The ECL related to financial guarantee contracts 
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are recognized within «Contingencies». 

Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI 

The ECL for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets  in 
the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that 
would arise if the assets were measured at amortized cost is recognized in OCI as an accumulated impairment 
amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognized in OCI is recycled to  the 
profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets. 

Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets (POCI) 

For POCI financial assets, the Bank only recognizes the cumulative changes in LTECL since initial recognition in 
the loss allowance. 

Credit cards and other revolving facilities  

The Bank’s product offering includes:  

− overdraft and credit cards facilities, in which the Bank has the right to cancel and/or reduce the 
facilities; 

− overdrafts and revolving facilities to Corporate clients on the terms of revocability, i.e. agreements with 
clients enshrine the right of the Bank to refuse to issue new tranches in case of certain circumstances 
related to the Debtor’s failure to fulfill the terms of the agreement.  

The Bank does not  limit its exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period, but, instead calculates ECL 
over a period  that reflects its expectations of customer behavior, the likelihood of default and its future risk 
mitigation procedures, which could include reducing or cancelling the facilities. 

The ongoing assessment of whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for revolving facilities is 
similar to other lending products. This is based on shifts in the customer’s internal credit grade, as explained  in 
Note 34 (see “Credit risk. The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process”), but greater emphasis is also 
given to qualitative factors such as changes in usage. 

The interest rate used to discount the ECL for credit cards is based on the average effective interest rate that is 
expected to be charged over the expected period of exposure to the facilities. This estimation takes into account 
that many facilities are repaid in full each month and are consequently not charged interest. 

The calculation of ECL, including the estimation of the expected period of exposure and discount rate is made (as 
explained in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis”)), on an 
individual basis for corporate and on a collective basis for retail products. The collective assessments are made 
separately for portfolios of facilities with similar credit risk characteristics. 

Forward looking information 

In its ECL models, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward looking information as economic inputs, such as: 

− GDP growth; 

− Unemployment rates; 

− National Bank base rates; 

The inputs and models used for calculating ECL may not always capture all characteristics of the market at  the 
date of the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as 
temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly material. Detailed information about these inputs 
and sensitivity analysis are provided in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Analysis of inputs to the ECL model under 
multiple economic scenarios”). 

Collateral valuation 

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Bank seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral  
comes in various forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate, receivables,  
inventories, other non-financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting agreements. Collateral, unless 
repossessed, is not recorded on the Bank’s statement of financial position. However, the fair value of collateral 
affects the calculation of ECL. It is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception and re-assessed on annual 
basis. As a rule, However, some types of collateral, such as mortgaged goods, are valued on a quarterly basis. 
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Details of the impact of the Bank’s various credit enhancements are disclosed in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. 
Collateral and other credit enhancements”). 

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Other 
financial assets which do not have readily determinable market values are valued using models. Non-financial 
collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third parties such as mortgage brokers, or 
based on housing price indices. 

Collateral repossessed 

The Bank’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed asset can be best used for its internal operations or 
should be sold. Assets determined to be useful for the internal operations are transferred to their relevant asset 
category at the lower of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original secured asset. Assets for 
which selling is determined to be a better option are transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value (if 
financial assets) and fair value less cost to sell for non-financial assets at the repossession date in, line with the 
Bank’s policy. 

In its normal course of business, the Bank engages external agents to recover funds from the repossessed assets, 
generally at auction, to settle outstanding debt. Any surplus funds are returned to the customers/obligors. As a 
result of this practice, the residential properties under legal repossession processes are not recorded on the 
balance sheet. 

During 2019 and 2020 the Bank did not collect collateral. 

Write-offs 

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has no reasonable 
expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. If the amount to be written off is 
greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is 
then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss expenses. 

Forborne and modified loans 

The Bank sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the 
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of collateral. 
The Bank considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the 
borrower’s present or expected financial difficulties and the Bank would not have agreed to them if the borrower 
had been financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include defaults on covenants, or significant 
concerns raised by the Credit Risk Department. Forbearance may involve extending the payment arrangements 
and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured 
using the original EIR as calculated before the modification of terms. It is the Bank’s policy to monitor forborne 
loans to help ensure that future payments continue to be likely to occur. Derecognition decisions and 
classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are determined on a case-by-case basis. If these procedures identify a 
loss in relation to a loan, it is disclosed and managed as an impaired  Stage 3 forborne asset until it is collected or 
written off. 

When the loan has been renegotiated or modified but not derecognized, the Bank also reassesses whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk, as set out in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Significant increase in credit 
risk”). The Bank also considers whether the assets should be classified as Stage 3. Once an asset has been 
classified as forborne, it will remain forborne for a minimum 24-month probation period. In order for the loan to 
be reclassified out of the forborne category, the customer has to meet all of the following criteria: 

- all of its facilities have to be considered performing; 

- the probation period of two years has passed from the date the forborne contract was considered performing; 

- regular payments of more than an insignificant amount of principal or interest have been made during at least 
half of the probation period; 

- the customer does not have any contracts that are more than 30 days past due. 
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Details of forborne assets are disclosed in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Overview of modified and forborne loans”). 

If modifications are substantial, the loan is derecognized, as explained in Note 4, see “Forborne and modified 
loans”. 

Cash and cash equivalents.  

Cash and cash equivalents as referred to in the statement of financial position comprises cash on hand, balances 
on correspondent and time deposit accounts with the National Bank of Ukraine, including deposit certificates of 
the National Bank of Ukraine, balances on correspondent accounts with other banks, less impairment in the form 
of reserves, except for guarantee deposits and recognized impairment in the form of reserves for such deposits. 
Cash coverage in the form of guarantee deposits placed with other banks is disclosed as part of Due from banks. 

Due from banks.  

In the normal course of business the Bank provides cash or places deposits with other banks for different 
periods. Funds provided to banks or placed with other banks are held by the Bank under a business model, the 
purpose of which is to hold financial assets to generate cash flows. The characteristics of contractual cash flows 
indicate that they are exclusively payments on the principal amount of the debt and interest on the outstanding 
part of the principal amount of the debt. Due from banks with fixed maturities are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Cash without fixed maturities is carried at amortized cost in 
accordance with expected maturity dates of such assets. Due from banks are carried net of any allowance for 
impairment. 

Loans to customers.  

Loans to customers are debt financial assets that are not derivative financial instruments with fixed or 
determinable payments. Loans to customers are held by the Bank within the framework of a business model 
whose purpose is to hold financial assets for cash flows. The sale (deferral of the right to loan debt) occurs only 
with the aim of minimizing potential credit losses as a result of deterioration in the credit quality of assets, which 
is an integral part of this business model. Characteristics of contractual cash flows indicate that they are 
exclusively payments on account of the principal amount of debt and interest on the outstanding part of the 
principal amount of the debt. Loans to customers are initially recognized at fair value, taking into account the 
related transaction costs directly related to the acquisition or creation of such financial assets. In the case where 
the fair value of the consideration provided differs from the fair value of the loan, for example, if the loan is 
provided at a rate below the market value, the difference between the fair value of the consideration provided 
and the fair value of the loan is recognized in the income statement and other comprehensive income. 
Subsequently, loans are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Loans to customers are 
shown net of any allowance for impairment losses. 

Property, equipment and intangible assets.  

Property, equipment and intangible assets are represented at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any impairment.  

Historical cost of fixed assets consists of their initial cost, taking into account all expenses associated with the 
acquisition, delivery, installation and commissioning of these assets.  

All intangible assets of the Bank have a final term of use and mainly include software and licenses for the right to 
use software products.  
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Carrying value of fixed and intangible assets are amortized for the purpose of gradual write-off of assets during 
their expected useful lives. they are depreciated on the straight-line method at the following annual rates and the 
useful lives applied: 

- machinery and equipment - 6 years and 7 months with depreciation rate of 15%; 

- vehicles - 6 years and 7 months with depreciation rate of 15%; 

- tools, appliances, inventory (furniture) - 6 years and  8 months with depreciation rate from 6% to 15%; 

- other fixed assets - 12 years with depreciation rate of 8%; 

- renovation of leased premises - during the lease term; 

- software - 10 years with depreciation rate of 10%; 

- other intangible assets – up to 10 years with depreciation rate of 10%; 

- depreciation of low-value non-current fixed assets is recognized in the first month of asset use at 100% 
of its value. 

In 2020 useful lives of fixed and intangible assets were reviewed but not changed compared to last year. 

The improvement of the leased property is amortized over the lease term or the useful life of the leased asset, 
whichever is shorter. Asset repair and renovation expenses are accrued as they are incurred and recognized in 
operating expenses if they are not capitalized. 

Improvement costs that lead to increase of initially expected benefits from fixed assets use, increase the initial or 
revalued value of these assets. Fixed assets repair and maintenance expenses are recognized as incurred in the 
Bank’s expenses. 

Fixed and intangible assets are derecognized after disposal or when it is no longer expected to receive future 
economic benefits from their continued use. 

Profit (loss) from sale of fixed assets, calculated as the difference between the amount received and the asset 
carrying value, is recognized in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Carrying value of fixed and intangible assets is revised at each reporting date to determine the possible excess of 
its carrying amount over the cost of recovery. If carrying amount of an assets exceeds the expected value of the 
consideration, it is reduced to the amount of consideration. 

The amount of consideration is the higher of: fair value less costs of sale and cost of use. Impairment is 
recognized in the appropriate period and included in operating expenses.  

Investment property.  

Non-current assets are classified as investment property if they are real estate (land, building, part of a building 
or a combination thereof) held by the Bank to: 

- gain profit as a result of increase in its market value in the long run; 

- obtain lease (rent) payments. 

At initial recognition the Bank measures and carries investment property at initial cost, which includes its 
acquisition cost and all costs directly related to its acquisition. Expenses of repair and maintenance of 
investment property are recognized in profit or loss during as incurred. 

After initial recognition investment property is measured and carried at fair value (revalued amount) with 
recognition of changes in fair value through profit or loss, without recognition of amortization and impairment.  

Income tax.  

Income tax is recognized in the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of the effective or 
substantively effective Ukrainian legislation at the end of the reporting period. The expenses (reimbursement) 
on Income tax include current and deferred taxes and are recognized in profit or loss for the year unless they are 
required to be reflected in other comprehensive income or directly in equity due to the transactions in the 
income statement, which are also included in other comprehensive income or directly in equity in the same or in 
any other reporting period. 
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Current tax is the amount, which, as expected, is due to or from tax authorities based on taxable profit/ loss for 
the current or previous periods. Taxable profit or loss is based on the estimates if the financial statements are 
approved before appropriate tax returns are submitted. Other taxes, apart from income tax, are recorded in 
administrative and other operating expenses. 

Deferred tax is the amount, which, as expected, is due to be paid or repaid on the difference between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and appropriate tax base used for taxable income 
calculation and is accounted using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible taxable differences can be 
utilized. Such assets and liabilities will not be recognized if the temporary differences arise from the initial 
recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that does not affect the amount of tax or accounting 
profit. 

Carrying amount of deferred tax assets is revised as at each reporting date and is reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that future taxable profit, sufficient to recover this asset fully or partially, will be available. 

Deferred tax is recognized in the Statement of comprehensive income, except in cases when it relates to terms 
directly attributable to equity, when deferred tax is also recognized in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset and presented in the Statement of financial position 
when: 

- the Bank has a legally enforceable right to repay current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and 

- deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income tax is levied by the same tax authority on 
the same taxpayer. 

Contingent assets.  

Contingent assets are not recognized in the Statement of financial position, but disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements when it is probable to receive economic benefits. 

Contingent liabilities.  

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the Statement of financial position, but disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements, except in cases when the outflow of resources as a result of repayment is insignificant. 

Provisions for contingent liabilities.  

Provisions for contingent liabilities are recognized when the Bank has a current legal or constructive obligation 
arising as a result of past events, and it is probable that the outflow of resources embodying certain economic 
benefits is required to settle this obligation; and the size of such obligations can be reliably estimated. Provisions 
for contingent liabilities are measured in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets, which require application of estimates and judgments of the management. 

Share capital and share premium.  

Contributions to the share capital are recognized at their initial cost. Share premium is the excess of 
contributions over the nominal value of shares issued and their placement cost. Gains and losses from sale of 
own shares are recognized in share premium. 

Dividends from ordinary shares are recognized in equity as a decrease in equity in the period it was announced. 
In accordance with IAS 10 Subsequent Events, dividends declared after the balance sheet date are considered as 
subsequent events and are disclosed accordingly. 

Capital reserves.  

Reserves, presented in equity (other comprehensive income) in the Statement of financial position of the Bank, 
include a revaluation reserve of financial instruments at fair value with a reflection of the revaluation result in 
other comprehensive income. 

Personnel expenses.  

Staff costs, contributions to the state social funds, paid annual vacations, disability payments, bonuses, as well as 
non-monetary rewards are accrued in the year, in which the relevant services were provided by employees. The 
Bank, in accordance with the legislation of Ukraine, transfers single social contribution to the state social funds, 
including: pension, social insurance for temporary disability, compulsory state social insurance against 
unemployment and social insurance against accidents. 
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Funds transferred to state-owned social funds are recognized as expenses of the Bank as paid. Staff costs also 
comprise cost of provisions for vacation pay and bonuses . The Bank does not have any other payment obligation 
after employee redundancy or other substantial payments that require accrual. 

Reporting by operating segments.  

Operating segments are components of the Bank that carry out its business activities (receive income, incur 
expenses), which reports are regularly analyzed by people responsible for making operating decisions and for 
which separate financial information is available. 

A person responsible for making decisions is the person or a group of people that distribute the Bank's resources 
and evaluate results of its activities. The Management Board of the Bank functions as the person responsible for 
making decisions that analyzes the internal reports in order to assess the Bank’s performance and distribute its 
resources.  

The criteria for recognizing reportable segments. Reportable segment is a distinguishable component that 
provides a product or service (or a group of interrelated products or services) and is subject to risks and 
rewards that are different from those of other segments. Income, including both sales to external customers and 
intersegment sales or transfer pricing transactions, is 10% (or more) of the combined (internal and external) 
income from all operating segments. 

According to the above, operating segments of the Bank include: 

services to individuals: this business segment provides banking services to clients individuals, including 
opening and servicing current and savings accounts, deposits, treasury services, credit card services, lending, 
etc.; 

services to corporate clients: this business segment provides servicing current accounts, deposits, providing 
loans in various forms, foreign currency purchase and sale, etc.; 

centralized treasury banking operations: a business segment that organizes Bank’s financing and risk 
management by raising funds in financial markets, issuing securities, investing in liquid assets. 

Transactions between segments are performed under normal market conditions. Resources are redistributed 
between segments, which causes the transfer costs or revenues of the segment (presented in the operating 
result). There are no other significant redistributions between segments. The segment's assets and liabilities 
make up the majority of the balance sheet currency and do not exclude tax consequences. Capital is not allocated 
to segments except for the results of the current year's segment and other comprehensive income. 
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5. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised as at the 
date of the financial statements, as well as the amounts of income and expenses for the reporting period. 
Estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that management 
takes into account. Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 

Judgments, estimates and basic assumptions are regularly reviewed. Revised estimates are recognised in the 
accounting in the period they were revised and further applied in all subsequent periods. Professional judgments 
that have the most significant impact on the amounts presented in the financial statements and estimates that 
may result in significant adjustments to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities during the next fiscal year 
include: 

Going concern. This financial statements have been prepared based on the assumption that the Bank is able to 
continue as a going concern in the nearest future. The management and shareholders intend to further develop 
the Bank's activities. The management believes that application of the assumption about the Bank's ability to 
continue as a going concern is adequate, taking into account the proper level of capital adequacy, shareholders' 
intentions to support the Bank, as well as historical experience indicating that short-term liabilities will be 
refinanced in the ordinary course of business. 

Fair value of investment property. Investment property is subject to regular revaluations. Revaluation is based 
on the valuation of an independent appraiser, who uses professional judgments and estimates to identify similar 
constructions, asset useful life, and income capitalization rates. 

Deferred tax assets. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all temporary differences included in tax expenses, to 
the extent where it is probable to receive tax income, against, which temporary differences that reduce taxable 
income can be realized. Estimation of this probability is based on the managements’ forecast of the future taxable 
profit and supplemented by subjective judgments. 

Initial recognition of related party transactions. In the ordinary course of business, the Bank carries out 
transactions with related parties. IFRS 9 requires accounting for financial instruments under initial recognition 
at fair value. In the absence of an active market professional judgment is used to such transactions to determine 
whether such transactions are priced at market or non-market rates. This judgment is based on pricing for 
similar types of transactions with unrelated parties and effective interest rate analysis. 

Impairment losses on financial assets. The measurement of impairment losses both under IFRS 9 across all 
categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future 
cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant 
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different 
levels of allowances. 

The Bank’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding 
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered 
accounting judgements and estimates include: 

− the Bank’s internal credit grading model; 

− the Bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances 
for financial assets should be measured on a LTECL basis and the qualitative assessment; 

− the segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis; 

− development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs; 

− determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as 
unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs; 

− selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the 
economic inputs into the ECL models. 

It has been the Bank’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust 
when necessary. 

Determination of terms under lease agreements  



 

JOINT STOCK COMPANY “ALTBANK” 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 2020    

29 

The Bank takes into account all available facts and circumstances that give rise to an economic incentive to 
exercise the option to extend the lease or not to exercise the option to terminate the lease. The Bank determines 
the total lease term from three to five years, because during this period the Bank has sufficient confidence in the 
exercise of the option to extend the lease to three or five years, and at the same time has sufficient confidence in 
the use of the option to terminate more long lease terms after a three or five year period. Exceptions to the 
definition of the general lease term may be cases where there are indisputable facts and circumstances that 
indicate a different planned term of use (for example, but not limited to, planned early termination of the lease or 
lease of key strategic premises, such as the Bank's head office). 
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6. Standards issued but not yet effective 

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of 
issuance of the Bank`s financial statements are disclosed below. The Bank intends to adopt these new and 
amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective. 

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts 

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new accounting standard 
for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 
17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of 
insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that 
issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation features. A 
few scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance 
contracts that is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are 
largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive model for 
insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS 17 is the general model, 
supplemented by: 

• A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach). 

• A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts. 

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative figures 
required. Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the date 
it first applies IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the Bank. 

Amendments to  IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for 
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: 

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement; 

• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period; 

• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right;   

• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the 
terms of a liability not impact its classification. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be 
applied retrospectively. The Bank is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current 
practice. 

Amendments to IFRS 3 - Reference to the Conceptual Framework 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework. The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.  

The Board also added an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 to avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’ 
gains or losses arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 
21 Levies, if incurred separately.  

At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in IFRS 3 for contingent assets that would not be 
affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements.  

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and apply 
prospectively. 

Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits 
entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items 
produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
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manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and the 
costs of producing those items, in profit or loss.  

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be 
applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the 
beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment.  

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank. 

Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract 

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs to include when 
assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making.  

The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide 
goods or services include both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities. 
General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly 
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.  

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The Bank will 
apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the 
annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. 

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Subsidiary 
as a first-time adopter 

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 
1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The amendment permits a subsidiary that 
elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts 
reported by the parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRS. This amendment is also applied to an 
associate or joint venture that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1.  

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
adoption permitted. 

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial 
liabilities 

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IFRS 9. 
The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified 
financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees include 
only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the 
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are 
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies 
the amendment.  

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
adoption permitted. The Bank will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged 
on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment.  

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank. 

Amendments to IAS 41 Agriculture – Taxation in fair value measurements 

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IAS 41 
Agriculture. The amendment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of IAS 41 that entities exclude cash flows 
for taxation when measuring the fair value of assets within the scope of IAS 41.  

An entity applies the amendment prospectively to fair value measurements on or after the beginning of the first 
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier adoption permitted. 

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank. 
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7. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of financial position are as follows: 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

Cash 54 639 16 631 

Funds with the National Bank of Ukraine  30 792 12 874 

Deposit certificates of the National Bank of Ukraine 755 118 851 089 

 840 549 880 594 

Correspondent accounts with banks of:   

Ukraine 76 262 74 502 

other countries 1 - 

 76 263 74 502 

Less allowance for estimated ECL/impairment loss  (205)  (767) 

Total 916 607 954 329 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of cash flow are as follows: 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

Cash and cash equivalents  916 607 954 329 

Decrease in the amount of accrued income  (118)  (1 089) 

Increase in the amount of provisions for impairment of cash and 
cash equivalents 205 767 

Total cash and cash equivalents 916 694 954 007 

Provision for impairment under Cash and cash equivalents 

For cash on hand, funds with the National Bank of Ukraine, deposit certificates of the National Bank of Ukraine , 
no impairment was recognized during 2020 and 2019. 
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Correspondent accounts 

The table below shows the credit quality and maximum exposure to credit risk depending on the level of the 
Bank's internal credit rating and the ECL Stage at the end of the year. The values presented do not include 
provisions for impairment. Information on the Bank's internal rating system is provided in Note 34 (see “Credit 
Risk: The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process”), and the policy regarding the assessment of ECL 
provisions on an individual or group basis is described in Note 34 (see “Credit risk: Grouping financial assets 
measured on a collective basis”): 

Internal rating grade 
2020 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 

    High grade 76 168 - - 76 168 

Standard grade 95 - - 95 

Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets 

   

 

Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 76 263 - - 76 263 

  

Internal rating grade 
2019 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 

    High grade 74 334 - - 74 334 

Standard grade 168 - - 168 

Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets 

    Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 74 502 - - 74 502 

The table below shows the analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of correspondent accounts: 

Correspondent accounts Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020  74 502 - - 74 502 

New assets originated or purchased 33 207 653 - - 33 207 653 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (33 242 195) - - (33 242 195) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments 36 303 - - 36 303 

As at 31 December 2020  76 263    - - 76 263    
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Correspondent accounts Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 74 852 1 - 74 853 

New assets originated or purchased 24 807 352  28 103 - 24 835 455  

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (24 798 973) (28 115) - (24 827 088) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments (8 729) 11 - (8 718) 

As at 31 December 2019 74 502 - - 74 502 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL reserves for correspondent accounts: 

Correspondent accounts Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 01 January 2020 767 - - 767 

New assets originated or purchased 9 245    - - 9 245    

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (9 913) - - (9 913) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments 106 - - 106 

As at 31 December 2020  205 - - 205 

 

Correspondent accounts Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 282 1 - 283 

New assets originated or purchased 3 629 7 - 3 636 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (3 117) (8) - (3 125) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments (27) - - (27) 

As at 31 December 2019 767 - - 767 
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Unpaid contractual amounts under the Cash and cash equivalents that were written off but still subject to legal 
due diligence procedures were zero as at 31 December 2020 and as at 31 December 2019. 

8. Due from banks 
Due from banks are as follows: 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Inter banks collateral 14 999 10 033 

Inter banks Settlements 67 54 

 15 066 10 087 

Less: Allowance for ECL / impairment loss (924) (622) 

 
14 142 9 465 

Due from banks are valued at amortized cost. 

The maximum exposure to a single counterparty as at 31 December 2020 is UAH 14 479 thousand (December 
31, 2019 - UAH 10 013 thousand). 

Impairment allowance for due from banks 

Due from banks in collateral 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal 
credit rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. The values presented do not include allowance for 
impairment. Information on the system for assigning the levels of the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 34 
(see “Credit risk. The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process”), and the policy for assessing ECL 
provisions on an individual or group basis is described in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Grouping financial assets 
measured on a collective basis”). 

Internal rating grade 
2020  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 
    

High grade 14 999 - - 14 999 

Standard grade - - - - 

Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade 67 - - 67 

Non- performing assets 
    

Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 15 066 - - 15 066 
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Internal rating grade 
2019  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 
    

High grade 20 - - 20 

Standard grade 10 013 - - 10 013 

Sub-standard grade 54 - - 54 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets 
    

Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 10 087 - - 10 087 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of Due from banks in collateral: 

Due from banks in collateral Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020  10 033 - - 10 033 

New assets originated or purchased 247 956 - - 247 956 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (243 834) 

- - 
(243 834) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments 844 - - 844 

As at 31 December 2020  14 999 - - 14 999 

 

Due from banks in collateral Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 8 537 - - 8 537 

New assets originated or purchased 103 003  - - 103 003  

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (101 188) - - (101 188) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments (319) - - (319) 

As at 31 December 2019 10 033 - - 10 033 
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The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL allowance for Due from banks in collateral: 

Due from banks in collateral Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 01 January 2020 601 - - 601 

New assets originated or purchased 10 070 - - 10 070 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (9 774) - - (9 774) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments 2 - - 2 

As at 31 December 2020  899 - - 899 

 

Due from banks in collateral Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 1 175 - - 1 175 

New assets originated or purchased 12 582 - - 12 582 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (13 136) - - (13 136) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments (20) - - (20) 

As at 31 December 2019 601 - - 601 

As at 31 December 2020, contractual amounts of Due from banks in collateral, which were written off during the 
reporting period but which were still subject to legal due diligence procedures, were outstanding at zero (31 
December 2019 - zero). 
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Settlements inter banks  

The table below shows an analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of funds in calculations for 
settlements inter banks: 

Settlements inter banks Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 54 - - 54 

New assets originated or purchased 2 481 - - 2 481 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (2 468) - - (2 468) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020 67 - - 67 

 

Settlements inter banks Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 33 - - 33 

New assets originated or purchased 1 339 - - 1 339 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (1 318) - - (1 318) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 54 - - 54 

The table below shows the analysis of changes in ECL allowances for settlements inter banks: 

Settlements inter banks Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 21 - - 21 

New assets originated or purchased 116 - - 116 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (112) - - (112) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020 25 - - 25 
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Settlements inter banks Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 16 - - 16 

New assets originated or purchased 153 - - 153 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (148) - - (148) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 21 - - 21 

As of 31 December 2020 outstanding contractual amounts of Settlements inter banks that were written off 
during the reporting period, but still subject to legal due diligence procedures, were zero (31 December 2019 - 
zero). 

9. Loans to customers 
Loans to customers are as follows: 

 31 December 
2020  

31 December 
2019  

Corporate loans 374 252 274 725  

Mortgage personal loans 3 633 3 061 

Personal loans for current needs 2 204 2 693 

Car loans 248 355 

 380 337 280 834 

Less: Allowance for ECL / impairment loss  (3 587)  (3 463) 

 
376 750 277 371 

Loans to customers are measured at amortized cost.  

As at 31 December 2019, the maximum exposure to credit risk per one contractor is UAH 51 991thousand (as at 
31 December 2019 - UAH 49 283 thousand). 
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Provision for impairment  for “Loans to customers” 

Corporate loans 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit 
rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. The values presented do not include provisions for impairment. 
Information on the system for assigning the levels of the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. 
The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process”), and the policy for assessing ECL provisions on an individual 
or group basis is described in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis”). 

Internal rating grade 
2020 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 

    High grade 293 491 - - 293 491 

Standard grade 19 927 - - 19 927 

 Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade 60 834 - - 60 834 

Non-performing assets 

    Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 374 252 - - 374 252 

 

Internal rating grade 
2019 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 Performing assets 

     High grade 220 921 - - 220 921 

 Standard grade 24 685 - - 24 685 

  Sub-standard grade 322 - - 322 

 Low grade 28 797 - - 28 797 

 Non-performing assets 

     Individually impaired - - - - 

 Total 274 725 - - 274 725 
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The table below shows an analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of Corporate loans: 

Corporate loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020  274 725 - - 274 725 

New assets originated or purchased 841 645    - - 841 645    

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) 

(772 600) 

 
- - 

(772 600) 

 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments 30 482 - - 30 482 

As at 31 December 2020  374 252 - - 374 252 

 

Corporate loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 141 977  - 618 142 595  

New assets originated or purchased 860 092 - 70 860 162 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) 

(719 230) 

 
- 

(688) 

 

(719 918) 

 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments (8 114) - - (8 114) 

As at 31 December 2019 274 725 - - 274 725 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL allowances for Corporate loans: 

Corporate loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020  2 982 - - 2 982 

New assets originated or purchased 42 389    - - 42 389    

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (42 723) - - (42 723) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments 480    - - 480    

As at 31 December 2020  3 128 - - 3 128 
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Corporate loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 2 371 - 618 2 989 

New assets originated or purchased 27 413 - 5 385 32 798 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (26 734) - (6 003) (32 737) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments (68) - - (68) 

As at 31 December 2019 2 982 - - 2 982 

During 2020 and 2019, there were no write-offs of outstanding contractual amounts for financial assets that were 
subject to procedures for their legal claim. In 2020, there was no redemption of bad debts written off from provisions 
in previous years. During 2019 the amount of redemption of bad debts written off from provisions in previous years 
was  UAH 26 thousand.  

The increase in the ECL portfolio valuation provisions is due to an increase in the total portfolio size and transfers 
between the stages as a result of increased credit risk and worsening economic conditions. A more detailed analysis of 
economic factors is provided in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Analysis of inputs to the ECL model under multiple economic 
scenarios”). 

Mortgage personal loans  

Internal rating grade 
2020 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets  

   High grade - - - - 

Standard grade 3 633 - - 3 633 

 Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets  

  

 

Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 3 633 - - 3 633 
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Internal rating grade 
2019  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets  

   High grade - - - - 

Standard grade 3 061 - - 3 061 

 Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets  

  

 

Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 3 061 - - 3 061 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of mortgage personal loans: 

Mortgage personal loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020  3 061 - -  3 061 

New assets originated or purchased 1 375    - - 1 375    

Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (803) - - (803) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020   3 633 - - 3 633 

 

Mortgage personal loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 - - - - 

New assets originated or purchased 3 599 - - 3 599 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (538) - - (538) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019  3 061 - -  3 061 
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The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL allowances for mortgage personal loans: 

Mortgage personal loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020  16 - - 16 

New assets originated or purchased 293 - - 293 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (283) - - (283) 

Transfers to Stage 1     

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

New assets originated or purchased - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020  26 - - 26 

 

Mortgage personal loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 - - - - 

New assets originated or purchased 454 - - 454 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (438) - - (438) 

Transfers to Stage 1     

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 16 - - 16  
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Personal loans for current needs 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit 
rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. The values presented do not include provisions for impairment. 
Information on the system for assigning the levels of the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. 
The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process”), and the policy for assessing ECL provisions on an individual 
or group basis is described in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis”). 

Internal rating grade 
2020 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets  

   High grade - - - - 

Standard grade 2 185 - - 2 185 

 Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets  

   Individually impaired - - 19 19 

Total 2 185 - 19 2 204 

 

 2019 

Internal rating grade Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

     Performing assets - - - - 

High grade 2 671 - - 2 671 

Standard grade - - - - 

 Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade 

    Non- performing assets - 16 6 22 

Individually impaired 2 671 16 6 2 693 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of personal loans: 

Personal loans for current needs Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 2 671 16 6 2 693 

New assets originated or purchased 7 833  3 1 7 837 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (8 272) - (54) (8 326) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 (47) 47 - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - (66) 66 - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020 2 185 - 19 2 204 
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Personal loans for current needs Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 2 134 - - 2 134 

New assets originated or purchased 10 762  - - 10 762 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (10 203) - - (10 203) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 (22) 22 - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - (6) 6 - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 2 671 16 6 2 693 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL allowances for personal loans: 

Personal loans for current needs Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020  436 16 6 458 

New assets originated or purchased 6 571   3 1 6 575 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (6 552) - (54) (6 606) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 (47) 47 - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - (66) 66 - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020  408 - 19 427 

 
Personal loans for current needs Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 439 - - 439 

New assets originated or purchased 5 222 - - 5 222 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (5 203) - - (5 203) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 (22) 22 - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - (6) 6 - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 436 16 6 458 

As at 31 December 2020, contractual amounts for financial assets that were written off during the reporting period 
but still subject to legal due diligence procedures were zero (31 December 2019 - zero). 
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During 2020,  the Bank withdrew the claim for bad debts written off from provisions in past years and received a 
reimbursement of UAH 54 thousand, in 2019 there were no withdrawal of a claim. 

During 2020 and 2019 there were no write-off of contractual amounts for financial assets, which were a subject to 
legal due diligence procedures. In 2020 and 2019 there were no repayment of bad debts written off from provisions in 
past years.  

The increase in the ECL portfolio valuation provisions is due to an increase in the total portfolio size and transfers 
between the stages as a result of increased credit risk and worsening economic conditions. A more detailed analysis of 
economic factors is provided in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Analysis of inputs to the ECL model under multiple 
economic scenarios”). 

Car loans for individuals 

Internal rating grade 
2020  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets  

   High grade - - - - 

Standard grade 248 - - 248 

 Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets  

  

 

Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 248 - - 248 

 

Internal rating grade 
2019  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets  

   High grade 355 - - 355 

Standard grade - - - - 

 Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets  

  

 

Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 355 - - 355 
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The table below shows an analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of Car loans for individuals: 

Car loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 355 - - 355  

New assets originated or purchased 396 - - 396 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (503) - - (503) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020   248 - - 248 

Car loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 - - - - 

New assets originated or purchased 385  - - 385  

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (30) - - (30) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019  355 - - 355  

The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL allowances for Car loans for individuals: 

Car loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020  7 - - 7  

New assets originated or purchased 117 - - 117 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (118) - - (118) 

Transfers to Stage 1     

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020  6 - - 6  
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Car loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 - - - - 

New assets originated or purchased 76 - - 76 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (69) - - (69) 

Transfers to Stage 1     

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 7 - - 7  
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10. Investments in securities  
Below is an analysis of the book value of the Bank’s financial investments measured at FVOCI: 

 

31 December 

2020  

31 December 

2019 

Government bonds denominated in USD  147 621   12 248  

Government bonds denominated in UAH  9 846   - 

Shares of enterprises  11   11 

Total securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 157 478 12 259 

As at 31 December 2020 government bonds with fair value of UAH 60 237 thousand were pledged as collateral 
for refinancing loans, received from the National Bank of Ukraine (Note 15). 

Investments in shares of enterprises are as follows: 

 Types of Activities 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Shares of enterprises, including:  11 11 

PJSC “Settlement Center” Other monetary intermediation 2 2 

PJSC “Ukrainian Stock 
Exchange” 

Financial markets management 8 8 

PJSC “Ukrainian Interbank 
Currency Exchange” 

Financial markets management 1 1 

PJSC “SVIT” Telecommunication - - 

Total securities net of provisions  11 11 

The Bank, at its discretion, classified investments in equity instruments that were previously classified as held 
for sale as valued at FVOCI on the grounds that they are not intended for trading. 

11. Investment Property 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Fair value of Investment property at the beginning of the period 1 115 1 289 

Gains from the revaluation to fair value -  (174) 

Disposal of investment property 1 115  - 

Fair value of investment property at the end of the period  - 1 115 

At the end of 2019 one object of non-residential real estate was accounted as investment property, and was sold 
during 2020. 
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12. Property, equipment and right-of-use assets 

 Machiner
y and 

equipme
nt 

Other 
fixed 

assets 
Construction 

in progress 

Right-of-use assets: 

Total 
 Buildin

gs 
Computer 
hardware Total  

As at 31 December 
2018:  6 273   841   18 995  - - - 26 109  

initial cost 10 956 3 941 18 995 - - - 33 892  

depreciation (4 683) (3 100) - - - - (7 783) 

Effect of adoption of 
IFRS 16    8 846 1 283 10 129 10 129  

Additions  4 179   37 587   23 316  25 285 - 25 285 90 367  

Modification - - -  (33) -  (33) (33) 

Disposals   (98)  (5)  (41 766) - - - (41 869) 

Depreciation  (1 437)  (1 052)  -   (1 192)  (203)  (1 395) (3 884) 

As at 31 December 
2019:  8 917   37 371   545  32 906 1 080 33 986 80 819  

initial cost  14 629   40 281   545  34 098 1 283 35 381 90 836  

depreciation  (5 712)  (2 910)  -   (1 192)  (203)  (1 395) (10 017) 

Additions  907   577   9 684   29  -  29   11 197  

Modification - - -  (613) -  (613) (613) 

Disposals   -   -   (1 485) - - -  (1 485) 

Depreciation  (1 912)  (4 215)  -   (3 504)  (202)  (3 706)  (9 833) 

As at 31 December 
2020:  7 912   33 733   8 744   28 818   878   29 696   80 085  

initial cost  14 637   40 769   8 744   33 514   1 283   34 797   98 947  

depreciation  (6 725)  (7 036)  -   (4 696)  (405)  (5 101) (18 862) 

The initial value of fully depreciated fixed assets is UAH 3 530 thousand. 
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13. Intangible assets 

 
Intangible assets 

Incomplete capital 
investments in 

intangible assets Total 

As at 31 December 2018:  7 750   3   7 753  

initial cost  9 353   3   9 356  

amortization  (1 603)  -   (1 603) 

Additions  7 861   7 896   15 757  

Disposals  -   (7 862)  (7 862) 

Amortization  (1 331)  -   (1 331) 

As at 31 December 2019:  14 280   37   14 317  

initial cost  16 989   37   17 026  

amortization  (2 709)  -   (2 709) 

Additions  6 922   6 885   13 807  

Disposals  -   (6 922)  (6 922) 

Amortization  (2 388)  -   (2 388) 

As at 31 December 2020:  18 814   -   18 814  

initial cost  23 790   -   23 790  

amortization  (4 976)  -   (4 976) 

The initial value of fully amortized intangible assets is UAH 523 thousand. At the reporting date, the Bank has no 
developed intangible assets. 
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14. Other assets 
Other assets are presented as follows: 

  31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Other financial assets 
 

 

Accrued income from banking operations  577   272  

Receivables on operations with customers  50   5  

  627   277  

Less: Allowance for ECL / impairment loss  (83)  (224) 

 544  53  

Other non-financial assets 
 

 

Prepaid expenses and payments for taxes and fees  294   1 040  

Receivables on purchase of assets and prepaid services  891   187  

Inventories - 1 

  1 185   1 228  

Less: Allowance for ECL/ impairment loss  (15)  (9) 

 
 1 170   1 219  

Total other assets less allowances  1 714   1 272  

Impairment allowance for `other assets` 

Other financial assets 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Bank’s internal credit 
rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. The values presented do not include provisions for impairment. 
Information on the system for assigning the levels of the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. 
The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process”), and the policy for assessing ECL provisions on an individual 
or group basis is described in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis”). 

Internal rating grade 
2020  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 

    High grade - - - - 

Standard grade 562 - - 562 

 Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets 

    Individually impaired - - 65 65 

Total 562 - 65 627 
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Internal rating grade 
 2019 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 

    High grade - - - - 

Standard grade 96 - - 96 

 Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets 

    Individually impaired - - 181 181 

Total 96 - 181 277 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount of other financial assets: 

Other financial assets Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 96 - 181 277 

New assets originated or purchased 562 - 26 588 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (89) - (38) (127) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 (7) - 7 - 

Amounts written off - - (111) (111) 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020 562 - 65 627 

 

Other financial assets Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 30 - 153 183 

New assets originated or purchased 96 - 86 182 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (26) - (15) (41) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 (4) - 4 - 

Amounts written off - - (47) (47) 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 96 - 181 277 
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The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL allowances for other financial assets: 

Other financial assets Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 44 - 180 224 

New assets originated or purchased 25 
 

27 52 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (44) - (38) (82) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 (7) - 7 - 

Recoveries - - - - 

Amounts written off - - (111) (111) 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020 18 - 65 83 

 

Other financial assets Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 20 - 153 173 

New assets originated or purchased 44 - 86 130 

Assets derecognized or repaid (excluding write 
offs) (17) - (15) (32) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 (3) - 3 - 

Recoveries  - - - - 

Amounts written off  - - (47) (47) 

Foreign exchange adjustments  - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 44 - 180 224 

During 2020, there were write-offs of outstanding contractual amounts for financial assets that were subject to 
procedures for their legal claim in amount of UAH 111 thousand, in 2019 – UAH 47 thousand. In 2020 and 2019 there 
was no redemption of bad debts written off from provisions in previous years.  

Other non-financial assets 

To ensure going concern, the Bank makes purchases of goods and services with delayed delivery. For such receivables, 
the Bank calculates the estimated provision for impairment losses. 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in impairment allowances for non-financial receivables for the 
acquisition of assets and services: 

  2020  2019 

Balance as at January 1  (9)  (67) 

Changes in allowance during the period (6)  58  

Balance as at December 31  (15)  (9) 

During 2020 and 2019 there were no write-offs of outstanding contractual amounts for non-financial assets that were 
subject to procedures for their legal claim. In 2020 and 2019 there was no redemption of bad debts written off from 
provisions in previous years. 
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15. Due to banks 
 31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

Loans received from the National Bank of Ukraine by refinancing 55 000  

Correspondent accounts of Ukrainian banks 5 306 6 139 

Total due to banks 60 305 6 139 

As at 31 December 2020, government bonds were pledged, under the received from the National Bank of 
Ukraine refinancing loans, with fair value of UAH 60 237 thousand (Note 10).  

16. Due to customers 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Legal entities: 889 418  606 634  

demand deposits and current accounts 389 307  558 091  

term deposits 500 111  48 543  

inactive accounts  -   -  

Individuals: 336 032  463 542  

demand deposits and current accounts 272 085  402 663  

term deposits 63 944  60 877  

inactive accounts 3  2  

Total due to customers 1 225 450 1 070 176  

An industry sector. concentration of due to customers is as follows: 

 

31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

amount % amount % 

Retail and Wholesale   591 921   48,3   198 184   18,5  

Individuals – residents   301 566   24,6   433 875   40,5  

Transport, storage, postal and courier activities   158 418   12,9   96 004   9,0  

Processing industry   45 745   3,8   205 268   19,2  

Individuals – non-residents   34 465   2,8   29 667   2,8  

Real estate   11 966   1,0   9 174   0,9  

Information and telecommunication   10 407   0,8   8 173   0,7  

Construction   7 527   0,6   78 859   7,4  

Legal entities – non-residents  5 608   0,5   1 190   0,1  

Other   57 827   4,7  9 782   0,9  

Total due to customers  1 225 450   100,0  1 070 176  100,0 

As at 31 December 2020 due to customers in the amount of UAH 766 726 thousand (as at 31 December 2019 - 
UAH 527 507 thousand) respectively were received from five legal entities and individuals. 
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17. Other liabilities 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

Other financial liabilities 
 

 

Payables on other financial liabilities 212 162 

Provisions for liabilities 30 7 

Total other financial liabilities 242 169 

Other non-financial liabilities 
 

 

Payables on settlements with bank employees 2 658 2 085 

Payables on asset acquisition and payment for services 382 1 903 

Deferred income 2 648 1 791 

Payables on taxes and other mandatory payments other than income tax  1 305   695  

Total other non-financial liabilities 6 993 6 474 

Total other liabilities 7 235 6 643 

18. Contingent and contractual obligations 
In order to meet financial needs of clients, the Bank assumes various irrevocable contractual obligations and 
contingent liabilities. These include financial guarantees and other loan commitments. Despite the fact that such 
liabilities may not be recognized in the statement of financial position, they bear credit risk and, accordingly, are 
part of the Bank's overall risk appetite. 

In accordance with the terms of the guarantee, the Bank is obliged to make payments on behalf of clients in case 
of occurrence of certain events. Guarantees are subject to the same credit risk as loans. The nominal value of 
such contractual obligations is given in the table below: 

  31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Financial guarantees 197 535 27 410 

Other loan commitments:   

Definitely withdrawal credit lines 211 521 178 348 

Irrevocable undrawn credit lines 6 076 6 348 

 217 597 184 696 

Less: Allowance for ECL/ impairment loss  (301)  (163) 

Total 414 831 211 943 

Impairment losses on guarantees and other contractual obligations 

The analysis of changes in the nominal value and related provisions for impairment in respect of guarantees and 
other contractual obligations are represented below: 

Financial guarantees 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum credit risk exposure based on the Bank’s internal 
credit rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. Information on the system for assigning the levels of 
the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation 
process”), and the policy for assessing ECL provisions on an individual or group basis is described in Note 34 
(see “Credit risk. Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis”). 
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Credit risk exposure: 

Internal rating grade 
2020 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 

    High grade 197 529 - - 197 529 

Standard grade - - - - 

Sub-standard grade 6 - - 6 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets 

    Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 197 535 - - 197 535 

 

Internal rating grade 
2019 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 

    High grade 27 410 - - 27 410 

Standard grade - - - - 

Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets 

    Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 27 410 - - 27 410 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in risk exposure: 

Financial guarantees Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Risk exposure as at 1 January 2020 27 410 - - 27 410 

New guarantees 213 969    - - 213 969    

Guarantees derecognized or matured (excluding 
write-offs) (52 399) - - (52 399) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments 8 555 - - 8 555 

As at 31 December 2020 197 535 - - 197 535 
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Financial guarantees Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Risk exposure as at 1 January 2019 3 748 - - 3 748 

New guarantees 32 943 - - 32 943 

Guarantees derecognized or matured (excluding 
write-offs) (6 017) - - (6 017) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments (3 264) - - (3 264) 

As at 31 December 2019 27 410 - - 27 410 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL allowances: 

Financial guarantees Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 13 - - 13 

New guarantees 751    - - 751 

Guarantees derecognized or matured (excluding 
write-offs) (596) - - (596) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments 2 - - 2 

As at 31 December 2020 170 - - 170 

 

Financial guarantees Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 2 - - 2 

New guarantees 1 522 - - 1 522 

Guarantees derecognized or matured (excluding 
write-offs) (1 483) - - (1 483) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments (28) - - (28) 

As at 31 December 2019 13 - - 13 



 

JOINT STOCK COMPANY “ALTBANK” 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 2020    

60 

Irrevocable undrawn credit lines 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum credit risk exposure based on the Bank’s internal 
credit rating system and year-end stage ECL classification. Information on the system for assigning the levels of 
the Bank's internal rating is given in Note 34 (see “Credit risk. The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation 
process”), and the policy for assessing ECL provisions on an individual or group basis is described in Note 34 
(see “Credit risk. Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis”). 

Internal rating grade 
2020 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 

    High grade - - - - 

Standard grade 6 076 - - 6 076 

Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets 

    Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 6 076 - - 6 076 

 

Internal rating grade 
2019 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Performing assets 

    High grade - - - - 

Standard grade 6 348 - - 6 348 

Sub-standard grade - - - - 

Low grade - - - - 

Non- performing assets 

    Individually impaired - - - - 

Total 6 348 - - 6 348 

The following table shows the analysis of changes in the nominal value of other loan commitments: 

Irrevocable undrawn credit lines Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Risk exposure as at 1 January 2020 6 348 - - 6 348 

New contracts 13 078 - - 13 078 

Commitments with terminated recognition or 
expired (excluding write-offs) (13 350) - - (13 350) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2020 6 076 - - 6 076 
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Irrevocable undrawn credit lines Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Risk exposure as at 1 January 2019 6 467 - - 6 467 

New contracts 10 979 - - 10 979 

Commitments with terminated recognition or 
expired (excluding write-offs) (11 098) - - (11 098) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 6 348 - - 6 348 

The table below shows an analysis of changes in ECL allowances for other loan commitments: 

Irrevocable undrawn credit lines Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 150 - - 150 

New contracts 1 858  - - 1 858  

Commitments with terminated recognition or 
expired (excluding write-offs) (1 877) - - (1 877) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 131 - - 131 

 

Irrevocable undrawn credit lines Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 123 - - 123 

New contracts 1 565  - - 1 565  

Commitments with terminated recognition or 
expired (excluding write-offs) (1 538) - - (1 538) 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

Amounts written off - - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

As at 31 December 2019 150 - - 150 

Legal procedures 
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As at 31 December 2020 two claims of the Bank to counterparties (State Fiscal Service of Ukraine) for the total 
amount of UAH 1,513 thousand are considered. Also, at the reporting date courts are considering 8 non-property 
claims in which the defendant/third party is the Bank. and 1 property claim to the Bank in the amount of UAH 
118 thousand. 

Operating lease obligations 

Future minimum lease payments under operating lease contracts in which the Bank acts as lessee as at 31 
December 2020 and 31 December 2019 are as follows: 

  31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Future minimum lease payments     

within one year 83 86 

after one year but not more than five years 2 359 2 261 

more than five years 66 275 74 540 

Total operating lease obligations 68 717 76 887 
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19. Share capital, share premium reserves and other funds 
 31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

Number of ordinary shares  1 138 888 889  1 138 888 889 

Registered and paid share capital  227 778  227 778 

Total share capital  227 778  227 778 

Share premium  41  41 

Other additional capital 1 960 - 

Reserves and other funds  1 985  1 559 

Total share capital, share premium reserve fund  231 764  229 378 

At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 registered and paid share capital was represented by 
1 138 888 889 ordinary registered shares with a nominal value of 0.2 UAH per share. 

In the second quarter of 2019, in accordance with the decision of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of 
the Bank (Minutes № 61 of April 22, 2019), the authorized capital of the Bank was increased by increasing the 
nominal value of the Bank's shares due to the transfer to the authorized capital of part of the profit in the amount 
of UAH 22 777 777.78, namely: 

− part of the profit for 2018 in the amount of UAH 14 246 474.61; 

− part of the profit for 2017 in the amount of UAH 8 531 303.17. 

The nominal value of each share of the Bank was increased by 02 (two) kopecks. 

Bearer shares and privileged shares were not issued by the Bank. 

Shares intended for issue under options and sale contracts were not placed by the Bank. 

The Bank's profit that is subject to distribution is limited by the amount of its reserves, information about which 
is disclosed in the financial statements in accordance with regulatory requirements for the organization of 
accounting and reporting in banking institutions of Ukraine. Reserves that are not subject to distribution are 
represented by a reserve fund, which is created in accordance with the requirements of current legislation and 
regulations of the National Bank of Ukraine to cover unforeseen losses under uncertain risks during banking 
operations. The reserve fund of the Bank established by the decision of shareholders in the amounts, provided by 
law if such payments will be at least 5% of net profit of the Bank. This reserve was created in accordance with 
the Bank's Charter, which provides the creation of a reserve for these purposes.  

At the end of the day on December 31, 2020, the share premium in the amount of UAH 41 thousand (2019 - UAH 
41 thousand) was representing the excess of the amounts received on the nominal value of issued shares. 

In 2020, in accordance with the decision of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the Bank (Minutes № 
63 dated 27.03.2020), the reserve fund was increased by:  

− 5% of the profit for 2019 in the amount of UAH 425 916,28 (four hundred twenty-five thousand nine 
hundred sixteen hryvnias 28 kopecks). 

In 2019, in accordance with the decision of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the Bank (Minutes № 
61 of April 22, 2019), the reserve fund was increased by: 

− retained earnings accumulated by the Bank during the years 2004-2011 in the amount of UAH 
161 592.36 (one hundred sixty-one thousand five hundred ninety-two hryvnia 36 kopecks); 

− 5% of the profit for 2018 in the amount of 948 531.46 hryvnias (nine hundred forty-eight thousand five 
hundred thirty-one hryvnias 46 kopecks). 

In 2020, the item line Additional capital reflects Income from securities transactions with Bank`s shareholders. 

During 2020 and 2019, the dividends were not paid to its shareholders. 
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20. Revaluation reserve 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Balance at the beginning of the period 129 46 

Changes in the results of revaluation of debt financial instruments  469   132  

Income tax related to changes in the revaluation of debt financial 
instruments  (71)  (18) 

Realized gains on securities measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income reclassified to the income statement  (74)  (31) 

Balance at the end of the period 453 129 

21. Net interest income 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

INTEREST INCOME 
 

 

Loans to customers 42 408 30 075 

Deposit certificates issued by the National Bank of Ukraine 16 489 30 342 

Investment securities at fair value revalued through other comprehensive 
income 6 695 6 552 

Due from other banks 327 4 776 

Total interest income 65 919 71 745 

INTEREST EXPENSES 
 

 

Funds on demand to legal entities  (6 000) (7 181) 

Financial lease   (5 009) (2 044) 

Funds on demand to individuals  (4 227) (8 383) 

Term deposits of individuals  (3 521)  (4 036) 

Term deposits of legal entities (1 110)  (858) 

Funds received from the National Bank of Ukraine (189) - 

Term deposits of other banks (2) - 

Funds on demand to non-banking financial institutions (1) (28) 

Total interest expense  (20 059)  (22 530) 

Net interest income  45 860  49 215  
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22. Net commission income 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

COMMISSION INCOME 
 

 

Settlement and cash transactions  32 956   14 619  

Transactions in foreign exchange market 19 837  16 524  

Guarantees issued and off-balance sheet transactions  1 846   747  

Securities transactions for clients  224   167  

Credit services  99   42  

Other  491   319  

Total commission income  55 453 32 418 

COMMISSION EXPENSES 
 

 

Commission expenses on transactions with banks  (10 417)  (4 815) 

Settlement and cash transactions  (4 276)  (2 798) 

Other  (252)  (158) 

Total commission expense  (14 945)  (7 771) 

Net commission income  40 508  24 647 
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23. Credit losses 
The table below shows the ECL expenses on financial instruments for the year recognized in profit or loss: 

 
Note 

2019 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Cash and cash equivalents 7 562 - - 562 

Due from banks 8 (302) - - (302) 

Loans to customers 9 (155) (3) (20) (178) 

Investments in securities 10 - - - - 

Other assets 14 20 - 4 24 

Contingencies 18 (138) - - (138) 

Total impairment loss  (13) (3) (16) (32) 

 

 
Note 

2019 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Cash and cash equivalents 7 (485) 1 - (484) 

Due from banks 8 569 - - 569 

Loans to customers 9 (631) (16) 612 (35) 

Investments in securities 10 - - - - 

Other assets 14 34 - (74) (40) 

Contingencies 18 (38) - - (38) 

Total impairment loss  (551) (15) 538 (28) 

Repayment of bad debts written-off from 
provisions in past years  - - - 26  

Total credit losses  - - - (2) 

During 2020, there were no repayment of bad debts written off from provisions in past years , in 2019 the 
amount of repayment was UAH 26 thousand. 
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24. Net income from foreign currency transactions 
Net income from foreign currency transactions is as follows: 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Trading operations, net  10 643   7 203  

Exchange differences, net  2 055   (1 408) 

Total net income from foreign currency transactions  12 698   5 795  

25. Net trading income 

Net trading income is as follows: 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Debt securities 2 - 

Total net trading income 2  - 

During 2020, the Bank began purchasing and selling domestic government bonds to the trading portfolio. The 
income is received as result of purchase and sale of debt securities. 
26. Other income 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Payables written off to income - 5 281 

Other operating income 18 20 

Total other income 18 5 301 

27. Depreciation and impairment  

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Depreciation of fixed assets and right-of-use assets  (9 833) (3 884) 

Depreciation of intangible assets (2 388)  (1 331) 

Total depreciation and impairment (12 221)  (5 215) 
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28. Other expenses 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

Maintenance costs of fixed assets and intangible assets, telecommunication 
and other operational services (11 084) (9 923) 

Payment cards maintenance expenses (5 884) (4 442) 

Payments to the Deposit Guarantee Fund (5 292) (1 673) 

Operating lease expense (2 042) (1 634) 

Representative expenses (936) (1 098) 

Marketing and advertising costs (724) (499) 

Consulting and information costs (586) (778) 

Audit costs  (350) (700) 

Security costs (299)  (161) 

Membership dues   (252)  (234) 

Costs for participation in conferences and seminars (181)  (199) 

Result from sale / disposal of non-current assets - (77) 

Costs of collection and transportation of valuables (167) (92) 

Professional services - (90) 

Other expenses (2 547) (2 393) 

Total other expenses  (30 344)  (23 993) 

As at 31 December 2020 premises lease costs include expenditures under lease agreements, which are a subject 
to recognition simplifications under IFRS 16 in the amount of UAH 768 thousand and expenditures under lease 
agreements that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 in the amount of UAH 1 274 thousand. 

As at 31 December 2019 premises lease costs include expenditures under lease agreements, which are a subject 
to recognition simplifications under IFRS 16 in the amount of UAH 1 194 thousand and expenditures under lease 
agreements that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 in the amount of UAH 440 thousand. 
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29. Income tax 
Income tax expense: 

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

Current income tax expense - - 

Change in deferred income tax - - 

Reducing /Temporary differences  (815)  (1 860) 

Total (expense) /income tax reimbursement  (815)  (1 860) 

The Bank calculates income tax based on the tax accounting data prepared in accordance with Ukrainian tax 
legislation requirements, which may differ from International Financial Reporting Standards. Permanent tax 
differences have effect on the Bank’s financial statements as certain expenses are not taxed and there is regime 
of exemption of a certain category of income from taxation. 

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities for the purposes of the financial statements and the amount used for tax purpose. 

The Bank assessed the existence of taxable profit, against which to deduct temporary difference during three 
years and recognized the deferred tax asset as at 31 December 2020 in the amount of UAH 6 192 thousand (as at 
31 December 2019 in the amount of UAH 7 078 thousand). The tax legislation in force at the end of 2020 does 
not limit the realization periods for unused tax losses and origination of taxable profit, to deduct temporary 
difference through reversal, but, a longer period is not considered by the Bank due to possible changes in the tax 
legislation. 

Tax Code of Ukraine established 18% income tax rate for the years 2020 and 2019. 

Reconciliation of income tax expenses and accounting income for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019: 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

Profit / (loss) before tax 4 526  10 378  

Theoretical tax deductions at the appropriate tax rate (815) (1 868) 

Adjustment of accounting profit:   

Tax effect of permanent differences (9) (9) 

Transfer unused tax losses to future periods 9 17 

Income tax expense (815) (1 860) 

Tax effect related to recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities for 2020: 

 

Balance at the 
beginning of the 

period 

Recognized 
through 

profit/loss 

Recognized 
in equity 

Balance at 
the end of 

the period 

Tax impact of temporary differences 7 078  (815) (71) 6 192  

Transferred forward unused tax losses  7 078  (815) (71) 6 192 

Net deferred tax asset 7 078  (815) (71) 6 192 

Recognised deferred tax asset 7 078  (815) (71) 6 192 
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Tax effect related to recognition of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities for 2019. 

 

Balance at the 
beginning of the 

period 

Recognized 
through 

profit/loss 

Recognized 
in equity 

Balance at 
the end of 

the period 

Tax impact of temporary differences 8 956 (1 860) (18) 7 078  

Transferred forward unused tax losses  8 956 (1 860) (18) 7 078  

Net deferred tax asset 8 956 (1 860) (18) 7 078  

Recognized deferred tax asset 8 956 (1 860) (18) 7 078  
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30. Operating segments 
Information on reportable segments of the Bank for 2020 is presented below. 

Reportable segment assets and liabilities for 2020: 

 Retail banking 
Corporate 

banking 

Centralized 
treasury banking 

transactions Total 

Reportable segment assets 27 231 426 741 1 119 143 1 573 115 

Reportable segment liabilities 356 715 904 959 63 645 1 325 319 

Capital investments 3 310 8 522 4 737 16 569 

Depreciation (2 442) (6 285) (3 494) (12 221) 

Reportable segment revenues, expenses and profit or loss for 2020: 

  Retail 
banking 

Corporate 
banking 

Centralized 
treasury 
banking 

transactions 
Withdra

wal Total 

External revenue           

interest income  1 017   41 391   23 511   -   65 919  

fee and commission income  5 628   24 468   25 357   -   55 453  

Intersegment revenue  16 741   20 295   5 063   (42 099)  -  

Total income  23 386   86 154   53 931   (42 099)  121 372  

Interest expense  (8 749)  (9 687)  (1 623)  -   (20 059) 

Credit losses  (184)  (115)  267   -   (32) 

Fee and commission expenses  (4 528)  (8 574)  (1 843)  -   (14 945) 

Net gains/(losses) on the sale of 
financial instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income 

 -   -   76  -  76  

Net gains/(losses) on operations 
with derivatives  -   -   (111)  -   (111) 

Net income from foreign currency 
transactions  2 537   6 531   3 630   -   12 698  

Other income and other expenses  (18 875)  (48 589)  (27 009)  -   (94 473) 

Intersegment expenses  (435)  (15 656)  (26 008)  42 099   -  

Income tax expense  (163)  (419)  (233)  -   (815) 

Other comprehensive income  -   -   324   -   324  

Total comprehensive segment 
income including tax  (7 011)  9 645   1 401   -   4 035  
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The reconciliation of the total income of the reporting segments with the Bank's total income for 2020 is 
presented below: 

 

Total of 
reportable 

segments 
Adjustments Total of the 

Bank 

External revenue       

interest income  65 919  -  65 919  

fee and commission income  55 453  -  55 453  

Intersegment revenue  -  -  -  

Total income  121 372  -  121 372  

Interest expense  (20 059) -  (20 059) 

Credit losses  (32)   (32) 

Fee and commission expenses  (14 945) -  (14 945) 

Net gains/(losses) on the sale of financial instruments at 
fair value through other comprehensive income  76    76  

Net gains/(losses) on operations with derivatives  (111)   (111) 

Net income from foreign currency transactions  12 698  -  12 698  

Other income and other expenses  (94 473) -  (94 473) 

Intersegment expenses  -  -  -  

Income tax expense  (815) -  (815) 

Other comprehensive income  324    324  

Total comprehensive segment income including tax  4 035  -  4 035  

Reportable segment assets and liabilities for 2019: 

 Retail banking 
Corporate 

banking 

Centralized 
treasury banking 

transactions Total 

Reportable segment assets 21 313 321 911 1 016 134 1 359 358 

Reportable segment liabilities 485 813 625 605 6 139 1 117 557 

Capital investments 4 621 14 781 11 810 31 212 

Depreciation (772) (2 470) (1 973) (5 215) 
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Reportable segment revenues, expenses and profit or loss for 2019: 

  Retail 
banking 

Corporate 
banking 

Centralized 
treasury 
banking 

transactions 
Withdra

wal Total 

External revenue           

interest income  679   29 191   41 875   -   71 745  

fee and commission income  2 880   20 303   9 235   -   32 418  

Intersegment revenue  21 260   19 588   16 512   (57 360)  -  

Total income  24 819   69 082   67 622   (57 360)  104 163  

Interest expense  (12 721)  (9 036)  (773)  -   (22 530) 

Credit losses  (59)  (13)  70   -   (2) 

Fee and commission expenses  (1 596)  (1 360)  (4 815)  -   (7 771) 

Net gains/(losses) on the sale of 
financial instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income 

- -  46  -  46  

Net gains/(losses) on operations 
with derivatives  -   -   501   -   501  

Net income from foreign currency 
transactions  858   2 744   2 193   -   5 795  

Other income and other expenses  (10 338)  (33 067)  (26 419)  -   (69 824) 

Intersegment expenses  (493)  (19 178)  (37 689)  57 360   -  

Income tax expense  (275)  (881)  (704)  -   (1 860) 

Other comprehensive income  -   -   83   -   83  

Total comprehensive segment 
income including tax  195   8 291   115   -   8 601  
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The reconciliation of the total income of the reporting segments with the Bank's total income for 2019 is 
presented below: 

 

Total of 
reportable 

segments 
Adjustments Total of the 

Bank 

External revenue       

interest income  71 745  -  71 745  

fee and commission income  32 418  -  32 418  

Intersegment revenue  -  -  -  

Total income  104 163  -  104 163  

Interest expense  (22 530) -  (22 530) 

Credit losses  (2)   (2) 

Fee and commission expenses  (7 771) -  (7 771) 

Net gains/(losses) on the sale of financial instruments at 
fair value through other comprehensive income  46    46  

Net gains/(losses) on operations with derivatives  501    501  

Net income from foreign currency transactions  5 795  -  5 795  

Other income and other expenses  (69 824) -  (69 824) 

Intersegment expenses  -  -  -  

Income tax expense  (1 860) -  (1 860) 

Other comprehensive income  83    83  

Total comprehensive segment income including tax  8 601  -  8 601  
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31. Related party transactions 
The parties are considered related if one party has the ability to control the other party, either directly or 
indirectly, or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial operational decisions. 
Information about the shareholders and owners possessing significant share is disclosed in Note 1. Key 
management personnel is a staff responsible for the management, planning and control of the Bank’s activities, 
including the Chairman and members of the Supervisory Board, the Chairman and members of the Management 
Board, the Chief Accountant, Risk Manager, Manager of Internal Audit Department. Until December 21, 2020, one 
of the Bank's shareholders was the Chairman of the Management Board, that is why the balances on transactions, 
as well as income and expenses, for 2019 and for the period from January 01, 2020 to December 21, 2020 in the 
tables below are included in the column «Key management personnel», and for the period from December 22 to 
December 31, 2020 – are included in the column «Major shareholders of the Bank». 

 

Balances with related parties at the end of 2020: 

 

Major 
shareholders of 

the Bank 

Key 
management 

personnel 

Other related 
parties 

Loans to customers - 355 - 

contractual interest (%) - 0,001-36,0 - 

Fixed assets and right-of-use assets - - 22 313 

Customer accounts 67 061 6 894 51 343 

contractual interest (%) 0,1-6,0 0,1-6,0 0,1-6,0 

Lease obligations - - 23 591 

Other liabilities 65 - 102 

Income and expenses from transactions with related parties for 2020: 

 

Major 
shareholders of 

the Bank 

Key 
management 

personnel 
Other related 

parties 

Interest income -  87  -  

Interest expense (3 365) (283) (282) 

Fee and commission income  2 809   36   431  

Credit losses - (17) - 

Other expenses  -  (12 782) (218) 

Total amount lent to and repaid by related parties during 2020: 

 Major 
shareholders of 

the Bank 

Key 
management 

personnel 
Other related 

parties 

Loans granted -  1 133  - 

Loans repaid -  1 056  - 

Other rights and liabilities with related parties at the end of 2020: 

 Major 
shareholders of 

the Bank 
Key management 

personnel 
Other related 

parties 

Other potential obligations to customers 110 350 40 100 
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Balances with related parties at the end of 2019: 

 

Major 
shareholders 

of the Bank 
Key management 

personnel 
Other related 

parties 

Loans to customers - 42 - 

contractual interest (%) - 0,001 – 36,0 - 

Fixed assets and right-of-use assets - - 330 

Customer accounts 198 212 23 353 5 062 

contractual interest (%)  0,1-8  0,1-13  0,1-6 

Lease obligations - - 341 

Other liabilities - - 4 

Income and expenses from transactions with related parties for 2019: 

 

Major 
shareholders 

of the Bank 
Key management 

personnel 
Other related 

parties 

Interest income - 20 - 

Interest expense (7 815) (909) (105) 

Fee and commission income 61 24 340 

Credit losses 6 14 - 

Other expenses  -  (10 724) (98) 

Total amount lent to and repaid by related parties during 2019: 

 Major 
shareholders 

of the Bank 
Key management 

personnel 
Other related 

parties 

Loans granted - 385 - 

Loans repaid - (400) - 

Other rights and liabilities with related parties at the end of 2019: 

 Major 
shareholders 

of the Bank 
Key management 

personnel 
Other related 

parties 

Other potential obligations to customers -  391 - 

Compensation of key management personnel 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Expenses Expenses 

Short-term employee benefits (12 761) (10 724) 

Total (12 761) (10 724) 
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32. Fair value 
Analysis of financial instruments carried at amortized cost or at initial cost (present cost): 

 

31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

fair value book value fair value book value 

Cash and cash equivalents 916 607 916 607  954 329   954 329  

Due from banks 14 142 14 142 9 465  9 465  

Loans to customers 389 540 376 750 271 841  277 371 

Corporate shares through other 
comprehensive income - 11 - 11 

Other financial assets 544 544 53  53  

Total financial assets carried at 
amortized cost or present cost 1 320 833 1 308 054 1 235 688 1 241 229 

     Due to banks 60 305 60 305 6 139  6 139  

Customer accounts 1 224 540 1 225 450 1 066 934 1 070 176 

Other financial liabilities 242 242 169 169 

Total financial liabilities carried 
at amortized cost or present cost 1 285 087 1 285 997 1 073 242 1 076 484 

An analysis of assets and liabilities recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy for 2020: 

 

Fair value by measurement models Total fair 
value 

Total book 
value 

Level І Level ІІ Level ІІІ 
  

Assets recorded at fair value           

Investments in securities 157 467 - - 157 467 157 467 

Assets at fair value disclosed 
     

Cash and cash equivalents 916 607 - - 916 607 916 607 

Due from banks  14 142  14 142 9 465 

Loans to customers - 389 540 - 389 540 376 750 

Corporate shares through other 
comprehensive income - - - - 11 

Other financial assets - 544 - 544 544 

Liabilities at fair value disclosed 
     

Due to banks - 60 305 - 60 305 60 305 

Customer accounts - 1 224 540 - 1 224 540 1 225 450 

Other financial liabilities - 242 - 242 242 
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An analysis of assets and liabilities recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy for 2019: 

 

Fair value by measurement models Total fair 
value 

Total book 
value Level І Level ІІ Level ІІІ 

Assets recorded at fair value           

Investments in securities 12 248 - - 12 248 12 248 

Investment property - 1 115 - 1 115 1 115 

Assets at fair value disclosed 
     

Cash and cash equivalents 954 329 - - 954 329 954 329 

Due from banks  9 465  9 465 9 465 

Loans to customers - 271 841 - 271 841 277 371 

Corporate shares through other 
comprehensive income - - - - 11 

Other financial assets - 53 - 53  53  

Liabilities at fair value disclosed 
     

Due to banks - 6 139 - 6 139  6 139  

Customer accounts - 1 066 934 - 1 066 934 1 070 176 

Other financial liabilities - 169 - 169 169 
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33. Capital management 
The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management policy are to ensure that: 

1) Bank complies with externally imposed capital requirements set by the National Bank of Ukraine; 
2) the Bank has an ability to continue as a going concern in accordance with approved strategic plans; 

3) the negative consequences of the various risks assumed by the Bank in the process of its activity are 
covered  

The Bank's policy in capital management is to determine the effective level of capital by maximizing the long-
term value for shareholders, in particular, establishing the objectives and guidelines for managing the Bank's 
capital so as to optimize the shareholder's requirement for the return on its investments, taking into account the 
following restrictions: 

• compliance with capital requirements established by supervisory authorities; 

• compliance of capital level with the requirements of investors and rating agencies in order to ensure the 
Bank's access to finance in capital markets 

The Bank, in order to determine the real amount of the capital taking into account the risks in its activities, 
continuously assesses the quality of its assets and off-balance sheet liabilities, makes appropriate adjustments to 
its value by generating provisions to cover expected (potential) losses on liabilities of counterparties. 

The quantitative assessment of capital is complemented by a qualitative, comprehensive discussion. The results 
are summarized as goals for the required level of capital, including strategic directions to maintain a sufficient 
level of capital. 

The Bank's capital structure consists of instruments and capital represented by share capital, share capital in the 
process of registration, reserves, other capital, disclosed in the statement of changes in equity. 

The table below provides an analysis of the regulatory capital of the Bank as at 31 December 2020 and as at 
31 December 2019 calculated in accordance with the requirements of the National Bank of Ukraine: 

Components of regulatory capital: 2020 2019 

Common Equity, (tier1 capital):   

share capital 227 778 227 778 

share premium  41   41  

reserve funds 1 985 1 559 

losses of prior years - - 

intangible assets  (18 814)  (14 317) 

Total tier 1 capital 210 990 215 061 

Additional capital, (tier 2 capital) 7 753 6 525 

Regulatory Adjustments  (2)  (2) 

Total regulatory capital 218 741 221 584 

Capital adequacy ratio 30,40% 50,21% 

The quantitative indicators set by the National Bank to ensure the adequacy of capital require the Bank to 
maintain minimum amounts and regulatory capital ratios: 

• regulatory capital adequacy ratio is at least 10%. 

• the minimum regulatory capital of a bank should be: UAH 200 million   
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34. Risk management 
The Bank has established a risk management system that meets to the size, business model, scope, type and 
complexity of the Bank's operations and provides detection, measurement (assessment), monitoring, reporting, 
control and mitigation of all significant risks in order to determine the Bank's capital , necessary to cover all 
significant risks inherent in its activities. 

The risk management system consists of: 

− organizational structure; 

− risk management culture and code of conduct (ethics); 

− internal documents on risk management; 

− risk management and reporting information systems; 

− tools for effective risk management. 

The risk management system provides: 

− compliance Supervisory Board approved risk management strategy and declaration of the Bank's 
risk appetite with its business model and risks that the Bank is able to hold to achieve business 
objectives; 

− compliance of the Bank's risk profile with the level of risk appetite approved by the Supervisory 
Board; 

− creating and maintaining high culture of risk management, which provides for awareness and 
involvement of all employees of the Bank, as well as members of the Supervisory Board and the 
Management Board, in risk management, training of Bank employees on risk management; 

− compliance of internal bank documents on risk management with the requirements of the 
legislation of Ukraine; 

− the adequacy of the Bank's information systems, which provide prompt and reliable risk 
measurement, aggregation of risk data, as well as the completeness and timeliness of information 
for the preparation of management risk reporting; 

− assessment (measurement) of risks in order to control their level in both normal and stressful 
situations. 

Risk management plays an important role in the banking activities and operations. Risk management is a tool to 
protect the Bank's assets and income from losses. 

The Bank assesses all risks for their materiality in accordance with the Bank's internal methodology. Such an 
assessment reveals which risks are important to the Bank and require careful management. These risks form the 
risk profile of the Bank and require the establishment of the level of risk appetite for it. 

Each year, the Bank's Supervisory Board approves a list of the main risks that the Bank intends to maintain in 
order to achieve its strategic goals and implement the Bank's Business Development Plan. For each of risks and 
for all the risks, the level of appetite risk is set, which is determined by the Declaration of risk appetite and is 
monitored on a regular basis in order to keep the risks at an acceptable level. 

The main risks inherent in the Bank's operations include: 

− credit risk; 
− liquidity risk; 
− market risk; 
− interest rate risk of the banking book; 
− operational risk; 
− compliance risk. 

The process of managing the main risks includes a system of various limits and restrictions, which are approved 
by the collegial bodies of the Bank, as well as a number of triggers and indicators that allow to control and limit 
the level of risk. 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to discharge 
their contractual obligations. The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it 
is willing to accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by 
monitoring exposures in relation to such limits. 

Credit risk is managed and monitored by the Risk Management Center, the Credit Committee, which is 
established in the Bank and operates on a collegial basis, the Bank's Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board within their powers. 

Credit risk is managed and controlled by implemented risk limits per Debtor and / or group of related Debtors, 
risk of sectoral concentration of loan portfolio, concentration of loan portfolio in foreign currency, concentration 
of credit products for corporate and retail clients, maximum share of letterheads loans in the loan portfolio, as 
well as the maximum amount of non-performing loans. In addition, the Bank has introduced indicators for the 
system of early detection of non-performing assets in order to prevent an increase in the volume of such assets. 

The Risk Management Center supports management and business in general by implementing a variety of risk 
management tools, such as developing credit risk management systems, policies and models and preparing 
management reports, as well as by training employees in risk management. 

The Bank has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in  
the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions. As a result of credit quality 
assessment, which is carried out on the basis of financial statements of the counterparty and taking into account 
the qualitative characteristics, the probability of defaults is calculated and depending on the calculated value of 
the counterparty is assigned a rating. Ratings are regularly reviewed based on credit quality assessment. Such a 
credit quality review procedure allows the Bank to assess the amount of potential losses due to the risks to 
which it is exposed and to take the necessary measures to eliminate them. 

To control credit risk, the Bank monitors the quality of loan service throughout the “life cycle” of the loan, the 
financial position of the Debtor, the amount of cash flows through the current account with the Bank, compliance 
with financial and non-financial covenants established by the loan agreement, as well as the status of availability 
and storage of collateral. Such continuous monitoring allows to identify the financial difficulties of the Debtor, 
which may lead to non-repayment of the loan, in the early stages, to take precautionary measures and corrective 
measures by the Bank and, accordingly, reduces credit risk. 

Credit–related commitments risks 

The Bank makes available to its customers guarantees that may require that the Bank makes payments on their 
behalf and enters into commitments to extend credit lines to secure their liquidity needs.  

Guarantees commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in  the event of a specific act. Such 
commitments expose the Bank to similar risks to loans and are mitigated by the same control processes and 
policies. 

Impairment assessment 

The references below show where the Bank’s impairment assessment and measurement approach is set out in 
this report. It should be read in conjunction with the Summary of significant accounting policies (see Note 4). 

Definition of default and cure 

The Bank considers a financial instrument defaulted for ECL calculations and, therefore, refers it to Stage 3 
(credit-impaired assets) in all cases when the borrower becomes 90 days past due on its contractual payments. 
The Bank considers treasury and interbank balances defaulted and takes immediate action when the required 
intraday payments are not settled in 15 days. 

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether an exposure is credit-impaired, the Bank also considers a variety 
of instances that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Bank carefully considers whether 
the event should result in treating the customer as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL 
calculations or whether Stage 2 is appropriate. Such events include: 

− significant deterioration of the Borrower's credit quality indicating default or near-default; 
− internal rating of the borrower indicating default or near-default 
− the borrower requesting emergency funding from the Bank 
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− not submission of the Debtor's financial statements to the Bank, which makes it impossible to assess the 
financial position; 

− death of the borrower; 
− a material decrease in the underlying collateral value where the recovery of the loan is expected from 

the sale of the collateral 
− initiation by the Bank of a claim to a court regarding collection of arrears and / or criminal proceedings 

against the contract party / its head / its owner; 
− the debtor (or a legal entity within the debtor's group) filed for bankruptcy or declared itself bankrupt; 
− decision on declaring the Debtor Bank / counterparty insolvent or available decision on liquidation; 
− revocation of the banking license from the Debtor Bank / counterparty; 
− the existence of a default event on other significant financial instruments of the Debtor in the Bank. 

It is the Bank’s policy to consider a financial instrument as “cured’ and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3 when 
none of the default criteria have been present for at least three consecutive months. The decision whether to 
classify an asset as Stage 2 or Stage 1 once cured depends on the updated credit grade, at the time of the cure, 
and whether this indicates there has been a significant increase in credit risk compared to initial recognition.  

The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process 

The Bank’s independent Credit Risk Center operates its internal rating models. Criteria for internal ratings differ 
by type of Debtors - legal entities (except banks), individuals, counterparty banks. The models incorporate both 
qualitative and quantitative information and, in addition to information specific to the borrower, utilize 
supplemental external information that could affect the borrower’s behavior. These information sources are first 
used to determine the probability of defaults (PDs). PDs are then adjusted for IFRS 9 ECL calculations to 
incorporate forward looking information and the IFRS 9 Stage classification of the exposure. This is repeated for 
each economic scenario as appropriate. 

Treasury, trading and interbank relationships 

The Bank’s treasury, trading and interbank relationships and counterparties comprise financial services 
institutions, banks, broker-dealers, exchanges and clearing-houses. For these relationships, the Bank’s credit risk 
center analyses publicly available information such as financial information and other external data, and assigns 
the internal rating, as shown in the table below. 

Corporate and small business lending 

For corporate banking loans, the borrowers are assessed by specialized credit risk center of the Bank. The credit 
risk assessment is based on a credit scoring model that takes into account various historical, current and 
forward-looking information such as: 

− Historical financial information together with forecasts and budgets prepared by the client. This 
financial information includes realized and expected results, solvency ratios, liquidity ratios and any 
other relevant ratios to measure the client’s financial performance. Some of these indicators are 
captured in covenants with the clients and are, therefore, measured with greater attention. 

− Any publicly available information on the clients from external parties. This includes external rating 
grades issued by rating agencies, independent analyst reports, publicly traded bond or CDS prices or 
press releases and articles. 

− Any macro-economic or geopolitical information, e.g., GDP growth relevant for the specific industry and 
geographical segments where the client operates. 

− Any other objectively supportable information on the quality and abilities of the client’s management 
relevant for the company’s performance. 

The complexity and granularity of the rating techniques varies based on the exposure of the Bank and the 
complexity and size of the customer. 

Consumer lending 

Consumer lending comprises unsecured personal loans, loans secured by residential real estate, car loans, a loan 
secured by property rights to funds placed on a deposit account credit cards and overdrafts. These products 
along with retail mortgages and some of the less complex small business lending are rated by an automated 
scorecard tool primarily driven by days past due as well as the type of collateral and the level of debt coverage. 
Other key inputs into the models are: 
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− Consumer lending products: use of limits and volatility thereof, unemployment rates, changes in 
personal income/salary levels based on records of current accounts, personal indebtedness and 
expected interest repricing. 

− Mortgage loans: unemployment rates, changes in personal income/salary levels based on records of 
current accounts, personal indebtedness and expected interest repricing. 

The Bank’s internal credit rating grades based on PD for 12 months: 

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents, Due 
from banks 

Corporate and 
small business 

lending Personal loans 

Performing assets 
   

High grade 0,0-0,09 0,001-0,10 0,005-0,15 

Standard grade 0,10-0,20 0,11-0,35 0,151-0,40 

Sub-standard grade 0,30-0,80 0,36-0,80 0,41-0,80 

Low grade 0,81-0,999 0,81-0,99 0,81-0,99 

Non- performing assets    

Individually impaired 1 1 1 

Exposure at default (EAD) 

The exposure at default (EAD) represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments subject to the 
impairment calculation, addressing both the client’s ability to increase its exposure while approaching default 
and potential early repayments too. EAD for credit cards and other revolving facilities is set out in Note 4 (see 
`Credit cards and other revolving facilities`). 

To calculate the EAD for a Stage 1 loan, the Bank assesses the possible default events within 12 months for the 
calculation of the 12mECL. However, if a Stage 1 loan that is expected to default in the 12 months from  the 
balance sheet date and is also expected to cure and subsequently default again, then all linked default events are 
taken into account. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI financial assets, the exposure at default is considered for events 
over the lifetime of the instruments. 

Loss given default 

In the case of lending to legal entities and individuals, the LGD indicator is assessed at least and reviewed at least 
once a year and approved by the collegial body of the Bank. In the absence of data on losses of previous periods 
and the experience of losses of the Bank after the implementation of collateral, the value of LGD can be 
established by experts and approved by the Credit Committee of the Bank. 

Credit risk assessment is based on a standard LGD assessment model, which sets certain LGD levels. These LGD 
levels take into account the expected EAD compared to the amounts that are expected to be recovered or 
realized as a result of the sale of the held collateral. 

The Bank segments its retail lending products into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on key characteristics 
that are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows. The applied data is based on historically collected loss 
data and involves a wider set of transaction characteristics (e.g., product type, collateral types and level of credit 
debt coverage). 

Significant increase in credit risk 

The Bank continuously monitors all assets subject to ECL. In order to determine whether an instrument or a 
portfolio of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Bank assesses whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Bank considers an exposure to have significantly increased in 
credit risk when if the debtor's rating has decreased by more than three positions since the initial recognition. 

The Bank also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for an 
asset, such as list of problematic clients / tools or asset restructuring. If contractual payments are more than 30 
days past due, the credit risk is deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition unless this 
assumption is refuted by confirming information, which states that the credit risk has not increased significantly 
since the date of initial recognition even though there are overdue payments for more than 30 days. 
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When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets (as set out below in “Grouping financial 
assets measured on a collective basis”), the Bank applies the same principles for assessing whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The main sign of a significant increase in credit 
risk is the number of days of overdue payments under the agreement. 

Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis 

As explained in Note 4 (see “Overview of the ECL principles”) dependent on the factors below, the Bank 
calculates the allowance for ECL either on a collective or an individual basis. 

Asset classes where the Bank calculates ECL on an individual basis include: 

− all Stage 2 and Stage 3 assets, regardless of the class of financial assets; 
− the treasury, trading relationships; 
− financial assets that at the time of derecognition of the original loan and the recognition of the new 

loan were classified as POCI as a result of debt restructuring. 
Group assessment is used for those financial instruments that belong to Stage 1, ie for which at the reporting 
date there is no significant increase in credit risk from the date of their initial recognition and no signs of default 
(impairment). 

The Bank groups these exposure into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on a combination of internal and 
external characteristics of the loans, as described below: 

For interbank relations these are: 

− state banks; 
− banks with foreign capital; 
− banks with Ukrainian capital, including those divided into systemically important and other banks. 

For consumer lending these are: 

− product type (overdraft, unsecured personal loan, credit card, etc.); 
− number of days overdue; 
− LGD level. 

Analysis of inputs to the ECL model under multiple economic scenarios 

An overview of the approach to estimating the allowance for ECL is set out in Note 4 “Summary of significant 
accounting policies” and Note 5 “Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions”. To ensure 
completeness and accuracy, the Bank obtains the data used from third party sources. A team of economists 
within its Credit Risk Department verifies the accuracy of inputs to the Bank’s ECL models. 

In view of the COVID-19 crisis, the macroeconomic content of each scenario has been transformed in accordance 
with the recommendations of the International Accounting Standards Board, McKinsey & Company and other 
studies on the impact of COVID-19. The probabilities of scenarios were also estimated by statistical methods, 
which were usually used in 2018 - 2019 (the scenarios are given below). 

The scenarios and estimated probability of their occurrence 

№  
Term Crisis Stagnant Moderate Dynamic 

1 2 3 4 
1 from 01.01.18 to 01.05.19 р. 0,1620 0,1730 0,1830 0,4820 
2 from 01.05.19 to 01.05.2020 0,1780 0,2100 0,1350 0,4770 
3 since 01.05.2020 0,1928 0,1307 0,1532 0,5233 

Thus, all scenarios are characterized by a rapid decline in macroeconomic indicators, which is caused by the 
unprecedented artificial "shutdown" of economic processes as a result of repeated quarantine measures: 

• Scenario №4 (dynamic) with the highest probability of implementation retains its dynamism, which in crisis 
conditions characterizes the highest recovery rates. 

• Scenario №3, (moderate) being moderate, corresponds to a slower recovery trajectory, which is typical for 
longer quarantine restrictions. 
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• Scenario №2 (stagnant) describes the expectations regarding the transition of Ukraine's economy after the 
removal of restrictions in the stagnation regime (on average 1.5%), which is caused by purely internal factors. In 
this sense, the stagnation scenario reflects the World Bank's forecast of the priority of public spending in the 
limited fiscal space of Ukraine, which developed in the pre-crisis period, and significant debt pressure 2020-
2022 (about 6% of GDP per year). 

• Scenario №1 (crisis) characterizes the situation according to which the economy of Ukraine will not be able to 
fully recover from the crisis and will continue to fall slowly until 2025, followed by stagnation. 

 

The table below shows the main factors and values of the key forward looking economic variables that affect the 
expected losses, assumptions used by the Bank for ECL estimates as of December 31, 2020. 

Key drivers 
2020 fact 

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 
Long 
term 
rate 

Real GDP rates on the price 
base of 2016 (%) -4.2  -4,77 3,92 3,58 3,53 3,36 3,38 3,15 

Unemployment rate as of the 
last quarter of each year (%) 10,10 10,80 10,50 10,20 10,00 9,70 9,40 8,30 

GDP per capita at current 
prices at purchasing power 
parity (thousand $) 

13,11 12,76 14,47 15,47 16,19 16,74 17,19 17,30 

brief overview of modified and forborne loans 

a risk management point of view, once an asset is forborne or modified, the Bank’s special department for 
distressed assets continues to monitor the exposure until it is completely and ultimately derecognized. 

During 2020 and 2019, the Bank did not modify and restructure loans. 

Analysis of risk concentration 

Risk concentration indicates the sensitivity of the Bank's performance to changes that affect a particular industry 
or the Debtor that has a significant indebtedness in the loan portfolio. The Bank manages risk concentrations by 
breakdown by customers / counterparties, industries, as well as credit products for retail customers. The 
purpose of concentration risk management is to optimize the structure of the loan portfolio in order to diversify 
it in different areas and to avoid excessive impact of concentration in any area on the results of the Bank's 
activities. In order to limit the risk, the Bank has introduced limits on the concentration of credit risk per Debtor 
/ group of related Debtors, by industry and credit products, as well as established constant monitoring of their 
compliance. 

During 2020, the Bank consistently adhered to the risk norms established by the National Bank of Ukraine. In 
particular, as of the end of the day of December 31, 2020, the maximum loan limit per borrower was 23.84% 
(with a normative value of no more than 25%), the norm of the volume of large credit risks is 141.77% (at the 
normative value of not more than 800%), the norm of the maximum amount of credit the risk to related parties 
is 4.96% (with a normative value of no more than 25%), the value of the norm of investing in securities per one 
counterparty and the norm of the total amount of investment were close to zero. 

As of the end of the day of December 31, 2019, the maximum loan limit per borrower was 21.83% (with a 
normative value of no more than 25%), the norm of the volume of large credit risks is 101.86% (at the normative 
value of not more than 800%), the norm of the maximum amount of credit the risk to related parties is 3.65% 
(with a normative value of no more than 25%), the value of the norm of investing in securities per one 
counterparty and the norm of the total amount of investment were close to zero.  

The following table shows the concentration of risk by sector by component of the statement of financial 
position. Additional information on credit quality and maximum exposure to credit risk by category based on the 
levels of the Bank's internal credit rating and ECL Stages at year-end is presented in Notes 7, 8, 9, 14, 17,18.. 
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Industry analysis 

31 December 2020 

Financial 
services 

Govern
ment 

Consu
mers 

Operatio
ns with 

investm
ent 

properti
es 

Retail 
and 

Wholesa
le 

Electricity, 
gas, steam 

and 
conditioned 

air 

Manufac
turing 

industry 

Tempo
rary 

place
ment 

and 
caterin

g 
organi
zation Construction 

Other 
industr

ies Total 
Financial assets            
Cash and cash 
equivalents          

 
 

Cash on hand  54 639 - - - - - - - - - 54 639 
Balances with 

the National Bank 
of Ukraine 

- 30 792 - - - - - - - - 30 792 

Deposit 
certificates of the 
National Bank of 
Ukraine 

- 755 118 - - - - - - - - 755 118 

Correspondent 
accounts in banks 76 058 - - - - - - - - - 76 058 

 130 697 785 910 - - - - - - - - 916 607 
Due from banks            

Due from banks 
in collateral 14 979 20 - - - - - - - - 14 999 

Settlements 
inter banks 67 - - - - - - - - - 67 

 15 046 20 - - - - - - - - 15 066 
Investments in 
securities            

Government 
bonds - 157 467  - - - - - - - - 157 467 

Shares of 
enterprises 11 - - - - - - - - - 11 

 11 157 467 - - - - - - - - 157 478 
Loans to customers            

Corporate loans - - - 54 102    46 452    99 183    137 500    10 776    22 860       251    371 124 
Personal loans - - 5 626 - - - - - - - 5 626 

 - - 5 626 54 102    46 452    99 183    137 500    10 776    22 860       251    376 750 

 145 754   943 397   5 626    54 102    46 452    99 183    137 500    10 776    22 860     251    1 465 901 
Financial guarantee - - - - 491    - 1 351    - 134    195 559 197 535 
Other loan 
commitments:            

Definitely 
withdrawal credit 
lines 

- - - 21 087    121 127    5 986    21 950    27 084    11 619    2 668 
 

211 521 

Irrevocable 
unused credit 
lines 

- - 5 775 - - - - - - 
 

- 5 775 

 - - 5 775 21 087  121 618 5 986    23 301 27 084 11 753 198227  414 831 
 145 754  943 397  11 401  75 189  168 070  105 169  160 801  37 860  34 613  198478  1 880 732 
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1 January 2020 

Financial 
services 

Governme
nt 

Consume
rs 

Operatio
ns with 

investme
nt 

properti
es 

Retail 
and 

Wholesa
le 

Health care 
and social 
assistance 

Manufactu
ring 

industry 

Temporary 
placement 

and catering 
organization 

Constructio
n 

Other 
industri

es Total 
Financial assets            
Cash and cash 
equivalents          

 
 

Cash on hand  16 631 - - - - - - - - - 16 631 
Balances with 

the National Bank 
of Ukraine 

- 12 874 - - - - - - - - 12 874 

Deposit 
certificates of the 
National Bank of 
Ukraine 

- 851 089 - - - - - - - - 851 089 

Correspondent 
accounts in banks 73 735 - - - - - - - - - 73 735 

 90 366 863 963 - - - - - - - - 954 329 
Due from banks            

Due from banks 
in collateral 9 412 20 - - - - - - - - 9 432 

Settlements 
inter banks 33 - - - - - - - - - 33 

 9 445 20 - - - - - - - - 9 465 
Investments in 
securities            

Government 
bonds - 12 248  - - - - - - - - 12 248  

Shares of 
enterprises 11 - - - - - - - - - 11 

 11 12 248  - - - - - - - - 12 259 
Loans to customers            

Corporate loans - - - 58 507 28 263 43 622 98 841 27 655 14 855 - 271 743 
Personal loans - - 5 628 - - - - - - - 5 628 

 - - 5 628 58 507 28 263 43 622 98 841 27 655 14 855 - 277 371 

 99 822 876 231 5 628 58 507 28 263 43 622 98 841 27 655 14 855 - 1 253 424 
Financial guarantee - - - - - - - - 448 26 949 27 397  
Other loan 
commitments:            

Definitely 
withdrawal credit 
lines 

- - - 13 889 123 223 102 5 473 5 004 15 189 
 

15 468 178 348 

 Irrevocable 
unused credit lines - - 6 198 - - - - - -  

- 6 198 

 - - 6 198 13 889 123 223 102 5 473 5 004 15 637 42 417 211 943 
 99 822 876 231 11 826 72 396 151 486 43 724 104 314 32 659 30 492 42 417 1 465 367 
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Collateral and other credit enhancements 

For credit enhancements of Corporate loans, the Bank always tries to obtain collateral for the loan as a means of 
controlling the Debtor's assets, as well as a potential source of loan repayment in case the Debtor fails to comply 
with the terms of the agreement. 

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. 
Guidelines are in place covering the acceptability and valuation of each type of collateral. 

The main types of collateral obtained are, as follows: 

• For corporate and small business lending, charges over real estate properties, pledge of other fixed 
assets, the use of which is related to the main activity of the counterparty, pledge of inventories, cash coverage 
and other liquid collateral. 

• For retail lending - housing collateral. 

Bank also obtains guarantees from business owners for Corporate loans. 

The Bank monitors the market value of collateral and will request additional collateral in accordance with  the 
underlying agreement. 

It should be noted that regardless of the proposed collateral, the decision to grant a loan is based primarily on an 
in-depth analysis of the Debtor's financial position and its ability to service and repay the loan. 

More detailed information on credit quality and maximum exposure to credit risk by category based on the 
Bank's internal credit rating levels and the ECL Stage at the end of the year is presented in Notes 7, 8, 9, 14, 17, 
18. 

Information about loans by type of collateral for 2020: 

 Corporate 
loans 

Mortgage 
personal 

loans 

Personal 
loans for 

current 
needs Car loans Total 

Unsecured loans - - 1 660 - 1 660 

Loans collateralized by: 374 252 3 633 544 248 378 677 

real estate 185 016 3 171 - - 188 187 

including housing 37 853 3 171 - - 41 024 

other assets 189 236 462 544 248 190 490 

Total loans 374 252 3 633 2 204 248 380 337 

Information about loans by type of collateral for 2019: 

 Corporate 
loans 

Mortgage 
personal 

loans 

Personal 
loans for 

current 
needs Car loans Total 

Unsecured loans 94 - 2 240 - 2 334 

Loans collateralized by: 274 631 3 061 453 355 278 500 

real estate 135 551 2 515 - - 138 066 

including housing 134 2 515 - - 2 649 

other assets 139 080 546 453  355 140 434 

Total loans 274 725 3 061 2 693 355 280 834 
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Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will not have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations within 
the set time limit, or the risk that such liabilities will have to be repaid with excessive costs. This risk stems from 
discrepancies in terms of cash flows. It is inherent in all banking operations, and it can be influenced by a series 
of events inherent in the Bank and the entire market. 

Liquidity risk management 

The Bank has developed a comprehensive policy and control structure for liquidity risk management. The Assets 
and Liabilities Management Committee of the Bank (ALMC) and the Bank's Credit Committee are responsible for 
managing the Bank's liquidity risk through combining policy formulation, review and regulation, analysis, stress 
testing, setting and monitoring of limits. In order to effectively manage liquidity risk, the Bank: 

− supports a portfolio of highly liquid assets, in different currencies and with different maturities 

− guarantees the diversity of its resource base 

− monitors the behavioral characteristics of financial assets and liabilities 

− monitors reports on liquidity conditions that analyze the expected maturities of assets and liabilities 

− sets the indicators for early warning of possible stress events for liquidity and ensures the availability of 
assets that will be used as collateral if necessary 

− conducts regular stress tests; 

− has a contingency financing plan designed to create a structure that can effectively manage stress for 
liquidity. 

There are daily controls to determine and monitor the Bank's liquidity risk exposure. In particular, a report on 
the mismatch between maturing assets and liabilities, both in national and foreign currencies, is prepared on a 
regular basis, and the concentration of the Bank's liabilities for the five and ten largest depositors / creditors, 
both related and unrelated counterparties, an analysis of the LCR and liquidity ratio set by the NBU is performed 
on a daily basis, as well as daily liquidity management within the trading day is performed. 

The Bank has developed and implemented a system of indicators for early detection of liquidity crisis and 
internal liquidity ratios, which are analyzed on a regular basis. 

In order to limit liquidity risk, the Bank has set limits on cumulative liquidity gaps in the horizon of up to 12 
months, as well as limits on the concentration of liabilities of the Bank on the five and ten largest depositors / 
creditors for related and unrelated counterparties in the national and foreign currencies. 

Also an important indicator that is used is the result of stress testing of the Bank's liquidity, supplemented by the 
results of compliance with the main regulatory ratios. 

All information on the current and forecast liquidity status is provided to the ALMC and the Management Board 
of the Bank at least once a month, to the Supervisory Board of the Bank - at least once a quarter. 

During 2020, the Bank held a significant share of funds in high-liquid deposit certificates of the National Bank of 
Ukraine and Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of Ukraine. Thus, as of the end of the day on December 31, 
2020, the amount of such funds amounted to UAH 755 118thousand, or 48% of the balance currency. 

Stress testing of liquidity 

The Bank seeks to maintain liquid assets sufficient to cover outflows in stressful conditions for both the Bank 
and the market as a whole for 30 days. 

The stress scenarios reflect critical data and assumptions structured around the following key liquidity risk 
factors that reflect the liquidity risk management framework outlined in the Bank's regulatory materials: 

− outflow of funds on demand of 10 largest lenders of the bank - legal entities and individuals 
− a decrease in the amount of highly liquid assets. 

  



 

JOINT STOCK COMPANY “ALTBANK” 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 2020    

90 

In the current and prior periods, the Bank maintained sufficient liquid assets to meet all regulatory requirements 
and internal stress tests: 

Norm Normative value 
As of the end of the day 

31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Short-term liquidity not less than 60% 85,63% 98,24% 

The Bank maintains a liquidity coverage ratio at a level sufficient to cover the increased outflow of customer 
funds within 30 days. This indicator reflects the level of the bank's resilience to short-term liquidity shocks. As of 
December 31, 2020, the LCR indicator for all currencies was 257.5% (with a regulatory value of 100%), for 
foreign currencies - 122.7% (with a regulatory value of 100%). As of December 31, 2019, the LCR indicator for 
all currencies was 272.5% (with a regulatory value of 100%), for foreign currencies - 125.6% (with a regulatory 
value of 100%). This level indicates that the bank is provided with liquidity sufficient to fully meet its obligations 
within 30 days in a crisis. 

Financing structure 

The Bank seeks to diversify its resource base, providing financing of loans to customers largely through equity 
and stable deposits received from customers. 

The maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities 

The table below provides an analysis of maturities of financial assets and liabilities of the Bank. 

Maturity analysis of financial 
liabilities for 2020 

On demand 
and less 

than 1 
month 

From 1 to 
3 months 

From 3 to 
12 months 

From 1 to 
5 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

Due to banks 5 576 542 2 486 67 974 -  76 578  

Customer accounts: 1 186 847 18 268 15 858 1 971 4 147 1 227 091 

individuals 299 771 18 257 15 810 329 2 431 336 598 

legal entities 887 076 11 48 1 642 1 716 890 493 

Other financial liabilities 105 16 121 -  -   242  

Total potential future 
payments on financial 
liabilities 

1 192 528 18 826 18 465 69 945 4 147 1 303 911 

 

Maturity analysis of financial 
liabilities for 2019 

On demand 
and less 

than 1 
month 

From 1 to 
3 months 

From 3 to 
12 months 

From 1 to 
5 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

Due to banks 6 139  -   -   -   -   6 139  

Customer accounts: 1 004 341 21 636 36 096 7 994 1 801 1 071 868 

individuals 413 200 8 933 36 035 6 555 0- 464 723 

legal entities 591 141 12 703 61 1 439 1 801 607 145 

Other financial liabilities 77 10 82 0-  -  169 

Total potential future 
payments on financial 
liabilities 

1 010 557 21 646 36 178 7 994 1 801 1 078 176 
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Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on expected maturities for 2020: 

 Less than 1 
month 

From 1 to 3 
months 

From 3 to 
12 months 

From 1 to 
5 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 916 607  -   -   -   -  916 607 

Due from banks 14 142  -   -   -   -  14 142 

Loans to customers 9 854 16 822 62 029 286 739 1 306 376 750 

Investments in securities - 9 846 147 621  -  11 157 478 

Other financial assets 480 64  -   -   -  544 

Total financial assets 941 083 26 732 209 650 286 739 1 317 1 465 521 

LIABILITIES       
Due to banks 5305 - - 55 000 - 60 305 

Customer accounts 1 190 854 18 877 15 481 238 - 1 225 450 

Other financial liabilities 105 16 121 0 - 242 

Total financial liabilities 1 196 264 18 893 15 602 55 238 0 1 285 997 

Net liquidity gap as at 31 
December (255 181)  7 839   194 048   231 501   1 317   179 524  

Cumulative liquidity gap as at 31 
December (255 181) (247 342) (53 294)  178 207   179 524    

Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on expected maturities for 2019: 

 Less than 1 
month 

From 1 to 3 
months 

From 3 to 
12 months 

From 1 to 
5 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents  954 329   -   -   -   -   954 329  

Due from banks  9 465   -   -   -   -   9 465  

Loans to customers  4 946   16 137   90 440   165 848   -   277 371  

Investments in securities -  12 248   -   -   11   12 259  

Other financial assets  53   -   -   -   -   53  

Total financial assets  968 793   28 385   90 440   165 848   11   1 253 477  

LIABILITIES       
Due to banks  6 139   -   -   -   -   6 139  

Customer accounts  1 007 299   20 960   35 379   6 538   -   1 070 176  

Other financial liabilities  77   10   82   -   -   169  

Total financial liabilities  1 013 515   20 970   35 461   6 538   -   1 076 484  

Net liquidity gap as at 31 
December 

(44 722)   7 415   54 979   159 310   11  176 993 

Cumulative liquidity gap as at 31 
December 

(44 722)  (37 307)   17 672   176 982   176 993   
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The following table shows the book value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are expected to be 
recovered or settled more than 12 months after the reporting date. 

 
31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

  less than 
12 months 

more than 
12 months Total 

less than 
12 months 

more than 
12 months Total 

ASSETS             

Cash and cash equivalents 916 607    -      916 607   954 329   -   954 329  

Due from banks  14 142    -      14 142   9 465  - -  9 465  

Loans to customers  88 705    288 045    376 750    64 691  212 680   277 371  

Investments in securities  157 467    11    157 478    12 248   11   12 259  

Investment property  -      -      -      -   1 115   1 115  

Current income tax receivables  -1 333    -      1 333    -   1 333   1 333  

Deferred tax assets  -      6 192    6 192    -  7 078   7 078  

Property, equipment and right-of-use 
assets 

 3    80 082    80  085    46  80 773  80 819  

Intangible assets  -     18 814   18 814   -  14 317  14 317 

Other assets  1 714    -      1 714   1 272   -   1 272  

Total assets  1 179 971    393 144    1 573 115   1 042 051  317 307   1 359 358  

LIABILITIES       

Due to banks  5 305    55 000    60 305   6 139   -  6 139  

Customer accounts  1 225 212   238    1 225 450   1 063 638  6 538   1 070 176  

Lease commitments  3    32 025    32 028    47   34 389   34 436  

Other liabilities  7 235    -      7 235   6 643   -  6 643  

Contingencies  173    128    301   163   -  163  

Total liabilities  1 237 928    87 391    1 325 319   1 076 630  40 927  1 117 557  

Market risk 

The Bank is exposed to market risk due to adverse changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates, the value of 
financial instruments or market prices for assets that are on its balance sheet or accounted for on off balance 
sheet accounts. However, in addition to the presence of risk factors that are not under the direct control of the 
Bank, and the degree of their volatility, the necessary prerequisite for market risk is the existence of an open 
position that determines the degree of sensitivity of the financial institution to fluctuations in market indicators. 
Based on insignificant volumes of investments in non-fixed income securities and fixed assets, management 
focuses primarily on the management of interest and currency risks belonging to a group of market risks. 

Market risk management 

The purpose of market risk management is to achieve the planned level of profitability of the Bank for a risk 
acceptable to the shareholder, that is, minimizing losses from unexpected fluctuations in interest rates and 
exchange rates. 

The Supervisory Board, the Management Board and the ALMC are responsible for ensuring effective 
management of market risk in the Bank. 

The essence of risk management is to determine the risk appetite and the level of tolerance to the corresponding 
risk, that is, the sum of the maximum allowable losses from the fluctuations of market indicators, and the 
establishment and control of limits on the magnitude of the relevant open positions exposed by the Bank at risk. 
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The main measures for managing market risk are: 

− identification of sources of risk and measurement of its value, regardless of the units that carry out risk 
activities, and based on the data of the operating system Bank; 

− risk management; 
− monitoring and control over compliance with the limits on the amount of risk, which is carried out 

monthly by the Risk Management Center with subsequent reporting to the Management Board of the 
Bank 

The Bank uses various tools to measure market risks, including daily monitoring of open currency positions, the 
method of valuation at risk (VaR), control of the Bank's results from foreign exchange transactions. 

An additional tool for measuring market risk is stress testing, which involves changes in market conditions, 
including in a crisis situation, and the impact of such changes on the Bank's key performance indicators, risk 
appetite and economic standards set by the NBU. As a result of stress testing, the potential losses of the Bank are 
calculated In the case of various stress scenarios that can detect weaknesses and adopt the necessary 
precautions. 

In order to limit market, in particular currency, risk, the Bank has set limits on open currency positions, as well 
as a VaR limit. Information on the amount of open currency positions, compliance with market risk limits 
established level of risk appetite, as well as standards set by the NBU provided on a monthly basis ALMC, the 
Management Board and quarterly to the Supervisory Board of the Bank. 

Currency risk. 

Currency risk is the risk of receiving losses due to changes in the hryvnya value of assets, liabilities or off-balance 
sheet items denominated in foreign currency, caused by the change in foreign exchange rates. 

Currency risk management is carried out by setting limits, which daily compares the actual size of positions 
exposed by the Bank to currency risk. During 2020 and 2019, the Bank complied with approved internal limits 

In current and prior periods, the Bank has adhered to currency position limits to meet all regulatory 
requirements and internal stress tests: 

Norm 
As of the end of the day on 

December 31, 2020 
As of the end of the day on 

December 31, 2019 

Normative value Actual value Normative value Actual value 

Limit of long currency position not more than 
10% 5,81% not more than 5% 3,01% 

Limit of short currency 
position 

not more than 
10% 0,00% not more than 5% 0,07% 

The control over compliance with the limits is to match the actual size of the corresponding open position and 
the established limit on it. In case of non-compliance with the limit, the reasons for its occurrence are analyzed 
and a plan of measures for elimination of a violation or a proposal for the change of the existing system of limits 
is proposed. 

Currency risk stress testing is performed at least once a quarter and demonstrates the impact of significant 
exchange rate fluctuations on the Bank's performance and compliance with internal limits / restrictions and 
economic standards of the NBU. 

As of the end of December 31, 2020, the share of assets denominated in foreign currencies was 26,9%, liabilities - 
32% of the balance sheet currency. 
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Currency risk analysis: 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

  monetary 
assets 

monetary 
liabilities 

net 
position 

monetary 
assets 

monetary 
liabilities 

net 
position 

USD  307 854   306 992   862   157 941   155 210   2 731  

EUR  115 922   115 381   541   66 682   64 440   2 242  

Others  3   -   3   506   486   20  

UAH  1 041 742   863 624   178 118   1 028 348   856 348   172 000  

Total 1 465 521 1 285 997 179 524 1 253 477 1 076 484 176 993 

Below is the analysis of the Bank's sensitivity to the exchange rate fluctuations of the base currency - the USD  
against UAH. 

Sensitivity of profit or loss and equity to reasonably possible changes in exchange rates applied at the reporting 
date if all other variables held constant: 

 
31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

impact on 
profit / loss 

impact on 
profit / loss,% 

impact on 
profit / loss 

impact on 
equity,% 

USD strengthening by 15%  129   0,05   410   0,17  

USD weakening by 15%  (129)  (0,05)  (410)  (0,17) 

EUR strengthening by 15%  81   0,03   336   0,14  

EUR weakening by 15%  (81)  (0,03)  (336)  (0,14) 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows or fair value of financial assets and liabilities will change due to 
changes in market interest rates. 

The main objective of interest rate risk management is to reduce the effect of changes in interest rates on the 
cost of capital by limiting and reducing the amount of potential losses that the Bank may incur due to open 
positions due to a change in the situation on financial markets. The purpose of the policy on managing interest 
rate risk is to describe and establish the main criteria for guidance on managing and controlling interest rate risk 
in the Bank. 

Identification of risk sources is carried out by analyzing the existing structure of interest-bearing assets and 
liabilities. The analysis of maturity missed interest rates (for fixed rate assets and liabilities) or the immediate 
interest rate revision date (for floating interest rates or revolving interest rates and assets) is a good measure for 
determining positions , exposing the Bank to interest rate risk. 

As a tool for measuring the interest rate risk of the banking book, the Bank uses the analysis of the sensitivity of 
net interest income (NII) to changes in interest rates. Valuation is performed on all positions of the Bank for 
interest rate sensitive instruments. The impact of changes in interest rates on the economic value of equity (EVE) 
is also analyzed. 

To control the interest rate risk of the banking book, the Bank has approved the risk-appetite for such risk, as 
well as the limit of the maximum possible reduction of net interest income and economic value of equity. Also, 
the level of interest margin and interest spread is monitored on an ongoing basis and the dynamics of these 
indicators is analyzed. 

The task of the Assets and Liabilities Management Committee is to minimize the gaps between the revaluation 
periods of interest-bearing assets and liabilities by changing the parameters of individual certain significant 
transactions and modifying existing standards of banking products and pricing policy. Ensuring the planned level 
of interest income is carried out by managing the interest spread. 
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General Interest rate risk analysis: 

 

Demand 
and less 

than 1 
month 

From 1 to 
6 months 

From 6 to 
12 months 

Over one 
year 

Financial 
instrument
s free from 

interest 
rate risk Total 

2020 
      

Total financial assets  940 603   185 059  51 259 288 045 555 1 465 521 

Total financial liabilities  1 196 159   27 553  6 805 55 238 242 1 285 997 

Net interest sensitivity gap as 
at 31 December 2020 (255 556)  157 506  44 454 232 807 313 179 524 

2019 
      

Total financial assets  968 741   71 992   46 833   165 847   64  1 253 
477  

Total financial liabilities  1 013 438   35 767   20 572   6 538   169  1 076 
484  

Net interest sensitivity gap as 
at 31 December 2019 

 (44 697)  36 225   26 261   159 309   (105)  176 993  

Interest rate risk is assessed using “earnings at risk” approach by applying assumptions about the nature of the 
interest rate curve change to actual structure of interest sensitivity gaps of assets and liabilities and calculating 
corresponding impact on net interest margin for the year. 

 

Demand 
and less 

than 1 
month 

From 1 to 
6 months 

From 6 to 
12 months Total 

2020 
    

Sensitivity of financial assets  9 014   1 542   192   10 748  

Sensitivity of financial liabilities  11 463   230   26   11 719  

Sensitivity of annual interest income as at 31 
December 2020  (2 449)  1 312   166   (971) 

2019 
    

Sensitivity of financial assets  9 284   600   176   10 060  

Sensitivity of financial liabilities  9 712   298   77   10 087  

Sensitivity of annual interest income as at 31 
December 2019 

 (428)  302   99   (27) 
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The monitoring of the weighted average interest rates on interest bearing financial instruments at the end of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019 is presented as follows:   

Percentage 
31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

UAH USD, EUR, others UAH USD, EUR, others 

ASSETS         

Cash and cash equivalents 7,28  - 14,09 0,07 

Due from other banks 7,88 - 15,55 - 

Loans to customers 17,56 6,88 18,20 7,3 

Investments in securities 10,35 3,24 18,43 4,5 

LIABILITIES  
    

Customer accounts 3,56 0,32 6,63 1,2 

Current accounts 3,04 0,03 6,02 0,34 

Term deposits 10,44 2,41 13,06 2,62 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss or additional loss or loss of planned income arising from deficiencies or errors 
in the organization of internal processes, intentional or unintentional actions of bank employees or others, 
failures of the bank's information systems or due to external factors. The Bank has approved the risk appetite for 
operational risk, which is reflected in the Declaration of Risk Exposure. The main tools for measuring (assessing) 
operational risk are the database of operational risk events, identification of key risk indicators and their 
monitoring, stress testing scenarios. In addition, the annual self-assessment of the Bank's divisions on the level of 
operational risk has been introduced, which is systematized and analyzed by the Risk Management Center. 

To analyze possible operational risk events, external operational risk events are additionally analyzed, 
information about which is available from open sources. Such data are analyzed in terms of the probability of 
their implementation in the Bank, if necessary, preventive measures can be taken to prevent such events. All data 
are systematized into a database of external operational risk events. 

In order to control the level of actual losses incurred by the Bank as a result of operating losses, control over the 
amount of actual expenses of the Bank related to this risk is established. 

Systematic informing of the Bank's Management Board and Supervisory Board on operational risk events and its 
general level, compliance with key risk indicators, as well as actual losses of the Bank due to operational risk 
events is carried out at least once a month and once a quarter, respectively. 

In 2020, the amount of actual losses from realized operational risk events was insignificant. 

Compliance risk 

Compliance risk - the probability of losses / sanctions, additional losses or loss of planned income or loss of 
reputation arising from non-compliance with the law, regulations, market standards, rules of fair competition, 
corporate ethics, conflicts of interest, and internal bank documents. 

The Bank has established a separate department for compliance risk management, which is independent of 
business department and support department, subordinate and reports directly to the Supervisory Board. This 
department seeks to improve the effectiveness of compliance risk management and the appropriate control 
system. The Bank operates in conditions of regular changes in the regulatory framework, so the Bank's 
management pays special attention to compliance risk management. Compliance risk management is carried out 
at all levels of the Bank's organizational structure and ensures timely detection, assessment, monitoring and 
control of compliance risks. 

Compliance risk management is aimed at: 
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− avoidance of any risks associated with violations of the law and the requirements of regulatory and 
regulatory authorities; 

− avoidance of any risks associated with violation of professional ethics; 
− prevention of conflicts of interest in various areas of activity, especially in terms of decision-making. 

The Bank has implemented some processes for assessing potential compliance risks and events that have 
already occurred and established a risk appetite for compliance risk. 

The compliance department controls the risk by reviewing and analyzing information on violations, analyzing 
risks and control measures, the results of inspections of the Bank by the National Bank and other regulatory and 
supervisory authorities, imposed fines, violations of Ukrainian legislation, analysis of internal and external 
inspections audit. Identified defects are promptly fixed. 

The Bank determines zero tolerance for violations of the law. In 2020, no compliance events that would expose 
the Bank to significant compliance risk. was identified. 

35. Subsequent events 
The Bank assessed the subsequent events to April 2, 2021, when these financial statements were prepared for 
issue, and concluded that there are no issues that require disclosure. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR`S REPORT 
 

To the Shareholders and Supervisory Board of JSC «ALTBANK» 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of JSC «ALTBANK» (hereinafter –the Bank), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, The statement of profit and loss and 
other comprehensive income, Statement of changes in equity, Cash flows statement for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements, presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Bank as at December 31, 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Law of Ukraine On Accounting and Financial Reporting in Ukraine and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants including International Independence Standards (IESBA Code) 
and ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Ukraine, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 

Provision for loan impairment 

The estimation of the provision for loan impairment is a key area of professional judgment of the Bank's 
management. Identifying of impairment and determination of amount of expected reimbursement include 
some assumptions and analysis of different factors, including the financial position of borrower, expected 
future cash flow and fair value of collaterals. 

The use of various assumptions may be result of various estimates of the provision for loan impairment. 
Taking into account the materiality of customer credit balances and a certain level of subjectivity of 
judgments, we have determined the valuation of the provision for impairment as the key issue of the audit. 

Our audit procedures included assessment of methodology used by the Bank to determine the signs of 
depreciation and calculating the provision for impairment, testing input data and assumption analysis. For 
provisions for loan impairment with detected individual signs of impairment, we have audited assumptions 
underlying the basis for detecting impairment and its quantitative assessment, including the analysis of 
financial indicators of borrowers, forecasts for future cash flows and collateral assessment. For provisions of 
loan impairment, calculated on collective basis, which have not been demonstrate individual signs of 
impairment, we analyzed Bank’s models and audited relevance and accuracy input data used in this models. 

  



 

Other information  
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management 
Report and Corporate governance Report. The other information which we expected to receive after the date 
of this Auditor`s report is Annual Information on the Issuer of Securities. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the Annual Information on the Issuer of Securities, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and The 
NSSMC. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charges with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the Law of Ukraine On Accounting and International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessment Bank’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosure, if applicable, issues regarding going concern and apply going concern as a 
basis for accounting, except, if the management plans to liquidate the Bank or discontinue the activity or 
have not any other real alternatives for it.  

Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the process of financial reporting of the Bank. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
To obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to release the auditor’s report, to express our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee than an audit conducted with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the internal control; 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management; 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 



 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

Report on the requirements of other laws and regulations 
Law of Ukraine «On Audit of Financial Statements and Auditing Activities» 
In accordance with the Law of Ukraine «On Auditing Financial Statements and Auditing Activities», auditors 
must provide additional information and assurances. 

Basic information about the audit firm 

Full name  AC «CROWE UKRAINE»  

Location  03040, Kyiv, 1A Zadorozhnyi Ln. 

Information on inclusion in the Register of audit 
firms and auditors 

Registration number in the Register of Auditors 
and Audit Entities 3681 

An auditing entity that has the right to conduct a 
statutory audit of financial statements 

An auditing entity that has the right to conduct a 
statutory audit of the financial statements of public 
interest entities 

Name of the body that appointed the auditing entity 
to conduct the statutory audit 

Supervisory Board of the Bank 

Date of appointment of the audit entity 23.09.2020 (Minute of the meeting of the 
Supervisory Board №19)  

Duration of the audit task 3 years 

 

The audit report is consistent with the supplementary report for the Supervisory Board. 

We did not provide services prohibited by law. 

The key audit partner and audit entity are independent of the Bank in conducting the audit. 

We did not provide services other than statutory audit services and services disclosed in the management 
report or financial statements. 

ISAs require the auditor to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. The term "sufficient certainty" allows for some risk of 
significant monetary inconsistencies that may remain undetected; it is also assumed that the auditor cannot 
provide an absolute guarantee of the accuracy and completeness of the financial statements. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The terms of the ISAs require that the audit be planned in such a way as to ensure that errors 
and inconsistencies that could materially affect the financial statements are sufficiently probable. However, 
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